# TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS ON THE INFLUENCE OF EARLY CHILDHOOD SCREENINGS: A QUALITATIVE CASE STUDY

By

Jennifer Youssif

Liberty University

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University

2023

# TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS ON THE INFLUENCE OF EARLY CHILDHOOD SCREENINGS: A QUALITATIVE CASE STUDY

By Jennifer Youssif

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Liberty University, Lynchburg, VA

2023

APPROVED BY:

Ellen Ziegler, Ed.D., Committee Chair Jerry Woodbridge, Ph.D., Committee Member

#### Abstract

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to examine the perceptions of teachers' experiences with the Early Childhood Screening for students attending XYZ School in Eastern Saudi Arabia. The study was guided by the theory of social constructivism and the theory of self-regulation, as they explain how early experiences influence child and adult development. The central research question addressed the experiences of early childhood educators implementing mandatory screening assessments in Pre-K and Kindergarten. The central research question was "What are the experiences of early childhood educators that implement mandatory screening assessments in Pre-K and Kindergarten?" The study followed a qualitative case study research design. An indepth explanation of why the case study research design was the best measure for the research is included. Data were collected using individual interviews, document analysis, and observations in four XYZ Schools in Eastern Saudi Arabia. The sample included 12 educators from the four XYZ schools. The research also addresses how thematic and qualitative analysis synthesized the collected data. These approaches provided information relevant to the research by identifying common themes in the responses provided by the participants. I also looked at the screening documents and educator observations to search for meanings and patterns that were later coded and grouped by theme.

Keywords: Screening, childhood, outcomes, development, cognitive, perception, schools.

## **Copyright Page**

Copyright 2023, Jennifer Youssif

To my children, Layla and Jacob, may you pursue knowledge throughout your lives.

## Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge my committee chair Dr. Ellen Ziegler for all the guidance she provided, my committee member Dr. Jerry Woodbridge for reviewing my work, my friends for cheering me on during challenging times and my family for supporting me through this long endeavor.

Abstract
Copyright Page4
Dedication
Acknowledgments
Table of Contents
List of Tables
List of Figures
List of Abbreviations14
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION15
Overview15
Background15
Historical Context
Social Context17
Theoretical Context19
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Significance of the Study23
Theoretical Significance
Empirical Significance24
Practical Significance24
Research Questions25
Central Research Question25

## **Table of Contents**

Sub-Question One	25
Sub-Question Two	25
Sub-Question Three	25
Definitions	26
Summary	26
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	
Overview	
Theoretical Framework	
Theory of Social Constructivism	
Theory of Self-Regulation	
Related Literature	
Early Education Factors	
Ability to Self-Regulate	40
School Adjustment	46
Effects of Attendance on Achievement	
Benefits of Early Childhood Education	53
Summary	
CHAPTER THREE: METHODS	62
Overview	62
Research Design	62
Research Questions	63
Central Research Question	63
Sub-Question One	63

Sub-Question Two	63
Sub-Question Three	63
Setting and Participants	64
Site	64
Participants	64
Researcher Positionality	65
Interpretive Framework	65
Philosophical Assumptions	67
Researcher's Role	69
Procedures	70
Permissions	70
Recruitment Plan	70
Data Collection Plan	71
Individual Interviews	72
Individual Interview Questions	73
Document Analysis	75
Observations	79
Data Synthesis	
Trustworthiness	83
Credibility	83
Transferability	83
Dependability	
Confirmability	

Ethical Considerations	
Summary	85
CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS	86
Overview	86
Participants	86
Results	88
Informing Instructional Practices	90
Outlier Data and Findings	94
Research Question Responses	95
Central Research Question	95
Sub-Question One	96
Sub-Question Two	96
Sub-Question Three	97
Summary	97
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION	99
Overview	99
Discussion	99
Interpretation of Findings	99
Implications for Policy	101
Theoretical and Empirical Implications	102
Limitations and Delimitations	104
Recommendations for Future Research	105
Conclusion	106

References	107
Appendix A	129
Appendix B	131
Appendix C	133
Appendix D	134
Appendix E	137
Observations	137
Appendix F	
Appendix G	140

Table 1: Researcher Beliefs	
Table 2: Themes	
Table 3: Themes & Codes	90

Ecobio Developmental Framework	5	;2
--------------------------------	---	----

## 14

## List of Abbreviations

Early Childhood Education (ECE) Early Childhood Screening (ECS) Behavioral and Emotional Problems (BEP) Thematic Content Analysis (TCA) More Knowledgeable Other (MKO) Zones of Proximal Development (ZPD) Institutional Review Board (IRB) Rapid Automatized Naming (RAN)

#### **CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION**

#### Overview

The academic programs to which parents will expose their children in the future were determined by how well-prepared their children are for school. Early childhood screening was necessary to meet this demand and to assist parents in making investments in initiatives that expose their children to the necessary education. In a similar vein, parents can take note of their children's talents and prowess to enhance their interactions with them as well as their development and growth. This study addresses how teachers perceived the impact of early childhood screenings on support services for students in their early lives. A brief historical, sociological, and conceptual framework is provided in this chapter as an introduction to the subject. The authors explained how teachers' opposition to early childhood screening changed over time in the historical context. Aspects of Early Childhood Screening (ECS) related to social development were investigated in the social environment. The theoretical foundation focused on the effects that ECS had on children. The goal of the study was to determine how ECS affected the services that were offered to young children. It focused on the study's significance on three levels: theoretical, practical, and empirical. The study objectives were then further developed, with the main study question concentrating on the experiences of early childhood institutions that use ECS. Finally, the study's terminologies were defined, and a synopsis was offered.

#### Background

The literature discussed in this part revealed various historical, sociological, and theoretical viewpoints on early childhood screening. Early childhood screening has historically received less attention because schooling was seen as a universal endeavor. The disadvantage of curricular differentiation was that it made it difficult for children with developmental delays to keep up with their peers. But as teachers began to see its advantages, they eventually embraced early childhood screening. Studies that look at early childhood screening, including community relationships, academic achievement, and parent and teacher engagement, were theorized to exist. Early childhood screening is essential in identifying a child's personality attributes, which impact how they interact with their classmates and those who surround them in the social environment. This information helped educators and parents create social situations for children that match their unique needs.

#### **Historical Context**

Early childhood screening results aided children in their educational and developmental journeys. Later, to actualize their growth and development, for instance, children who required special services and support received this assistance. Over time, teachers' assessments of the effects of early childhood screenings have improved. They took this action in an effort to educate all of the pupils, including those who have special needs. Likewise, the desired versatility of the program in fulfilling the demands of the students is the cause of the altered perception (Akpan & Beard, 2016). The inability of many students with learning difficulties to advance to higher academic levels in the past detracted from educators' motivation (Rhew et al., 2018). The prevalence of Behavioral and Emotional Problems (BEPs) in children has historically been estimated at 9% to 12%. Children experienced significant troubles and difficulties as a result of these issues, which had an impact on them at home, at school, and in daycare facilities (Douglass, 2019). If these problems are not resolved during this critical developmental stage, the children may endure long-term consequences throughout adulthood (Paulus et al., 2015). Because of this, early detection of these issues through screening programs for young children was a crucial first step in getting the child access to appropriate therapy in the social situations

where they developed. Also, an early evaluation was helpful in altering the child's developmental trajectory, which can prevent physical and social issues later in life. Yet, the development of early childhood screening encouraged the availability of education for such children with special education needs and the personalization of technical support to meet their demands (Ansari et al., 2019).

The developmental stages that children must pass in order to achieve optimal results were often unknown to parents. Many parents were unaware of these issues until their children started school (Flower et al., 2020). Due to this difficulty, they had to spend a lot of money on programs intended to help the children and fix their problems (Kaufman et al., 2018). Similarly, some parents were so concerned about their children's development that they were unable to let them grow up without unwarranted protective behaviors that resulted in mental problems and impairments (Luo et al., 2019). Early childhood screening, however, allowed parents to identify behavioral impairments and make particular program investments to help their children develop and mature properly. These adjustments raised academic performance, accomplishments, and mental wellness (Masuda et al., 2021). The recent fashion involved identifying children's eating patterns and creating diets that were suitable for them without impeding their development.

#### **Social Context**

The social development and growth of children were assessed in early childhood. Early childhood screening was once believed by instructors to be crucial for children's social development (Lipkin et al., 2021). For instance, these screenings assisted the teachers in providing the students with peer-peer interpersonal counseling. These encounters were essential to the relationships that these children will have in the future. For instance, if not given counseling, a youngster who fears their peers may develop an inferiority complex and low self-

esteem and end up being a loner. Similarly, when the teachers mentioned the benefits of early childhood screening, public opinion changed. Children who had undergone childhood screening gained enhanced conflict-resolution abilities and the ability to express their thoughts freely (Chen et al., 2020).

All initiatives pertaining to early childhood screening were focused on early childhood caregivers and educators. Even when their children are young, many working-class parents today do not have a lot of time to spend with them. The children were left in the charge of teachers and other caretakers. As a result, these people were best suited to check the child's growth and point out any delays in their expected schedule. They were the first to notice any delays that might have had an impact on the development of the child (Vill et al., 2019). Finding children with intellectual deficits required collaboration with teachers and caretakers to conduct behavioral and developmental screening (Lipkin et al., 2020). The caretakers and teachers were also the ideal people to help pinpoint the potential causes of these delays in children. The primary determinants of the child's future development were the teachers who cared for them. They were the ones who regularly checked the child's academic progress (Lipkin et al., 2020). Both parties were aware of the child's capacity for language acquisition, interplay with other children, and socializing. Language growth in children and how they interacted with other children and teachers was a crucial part of children's development that had an impact on teachers (Alatalo & Westlund, 2019). They assisted in identifying children who required specific learning spaces and particular interventions. Early childhood education collaborated with educators to develop learning strategies that guaranteed children would develop properly and in line with their peers. It also supported maximizing efforts to deal with the child's mental disabilities.

Early childhood screening helped parents and educators because it allowed them to

tailor the technical support to the requirements of the child. Early childhood screening, for example, identified these children's psychological and behavioral challenges as they acclimated to the school setting (Ouherrou et al., 2019). This realization aided educators in guiding students or parents by suggesting that their children participate in therapy sessions aimed at preparing them for the rapidly evolving social environment (Souza et al., 2019). Teachers also assisted children in developing social-emotional learning abilities, which enhanced their interpersonal interactions. As a result, early childhood screening was seen more favorably by teachers.

#### **Theoretical Context**

In an ideal setting, children would grow at the same rate from birth to age five. Under the same nurturing circumstances, they developed their linguistic, cognitive, physical, and socioemotional skills synchronously (Bufferd et al., 2012). The principle of early childhood screening was essential to explaining why there were more and more instances of children in the same age group raised under the same circumstances who did not consistently acquire these crucial features of child development (Turan & Nagihan, 2019). A child's development was tracked by milestones like greeting, taking their first steps, and uttering their first words at specific ages.

Many children do not have the opportunity to receive early care and assessment of their developmental issues or potential future issues. The American Academy of Pediatrics has expressed worry over problems affecting young children's development (American Academy of Pediatrics, 2006). Early screening was advised by pediatric organizations as a crucial component of children's primary care to help detect these issues. Early screening identified youngsters who could be evaluated further, and potential intervention methods were planned to support the children's proper development into adulthood (Boan et al., 2015). Early childhood screening in primary care, however, had a significant disadvantage that left many children vulnerable to

unrecognized BEPs, which burdened them as they interacted with various components of their environment in the future (Wolff et al., 2020).

Early developmental delays were brought on by a variety of circumstances related to the child's growth. These elements originated naturally or were induced from within. One of the most important internal aspects is the child's biology, including genetic makeup. Biology has contributed to issues such as mental illness and physical disabilities (Fuhrmann et al., 2014). Significant influences on the social development pathway include the child's interactions with caregivers, teachers, and peers, as well as other external social contexts. Deprivation, maternal stress, unstable accommodation, and migration are additional elements that greatly divide youngsters from various parts of the world. Additional problems could include malnutrition, abuse of drugs and alcohol, trauma, or drinking. These elements affected the child's ability to develop normally.

Several researchers discussed the facets of this subject to comprehend how it affects students. For instance, Correia-Zanini et al. (2018) explained the impact of early childhood screening on young children's social development. These researchers discovered that early education promotes academic success and lessens signs of stress (Correia-Zanini et al., 2018). Similarly, Demirtaş-Zorbaz and Ergene's (2019) research showed that early childhood screening was necessary for peers, teachers, and parents to be involved in helping children adjust to first grade. Such research contributed to addressing the need for specialized care for children with learning and developmental difficulties.

Furthermore, it was critical in this field of study to understand how teachers viewed the effect of early childhood screenings on student support services in later years. The teachers' perceptions were shown as to what changes might be made to these screenings to meet the requirements of the children and boost teacher motivation (Booj & Nicolosi, 2021). In a similar vein, their opinions promoted the ways in which other parties, such as parents, can step in and advance the growth of their children (Penuel et al., 2020). By highlighting specific beliefs that, if ignored, could affect children's development and progress, this research improved the body of knowledge already available.

The socio-cultural theory of Lev Vygotsky encouraged investigation into perspectives that may affect children's development and progress. According to this notion, social connection has helped young people learn (Taber, 2020). This theory suggested that teachers may not efficiently provide guided and group learning if they had a poor perception of early childhood screening (Bryant & VanGraafeiland, 2020). As a result, the interactions between the children who missed the early-life screening programs and their teachers were difficult.

The stage theory of Jean Piaget understood how people view children's growth and development (Piaget, 1971). According to the hypothesis, children's intellectual development has occurred as a result of biological change and interaction with their environment (Sidik, 2020). The ability to recognize a child's shortcomings and provide them with the proper learning programs depends on teachers having the correct perspective on a child's growth. This theory contributed to the idea of coaching because coaches assisted students in improving their performances after identifying their areas for improvement (Alqahtani, 2022).

The notions mentioned above provided in-depth insights for what to watch out for in early childhood screening. Because they became defined characteristics in the relationships between teachers and students, these impressions had the potential to alter the outcomes or destinies of the children. Therefore, in order to guide their change and enhance the growth and development of the children, this study determined the implications of the activation.

#### **Problem Statement**

The issue is that early childhood screenings, which are essential for providing effective early intervention programs, are not often delivered to preschoolers. Testing children between the ages of three and five is included in early childhood screening (usually preschoolkindergarten). While there are many different aspects to screening, some are quite important, including psychological development, cognition, communication, cooperation, visual perception, and listening (Sanfilippo et al., 2020). Stakeholders in the education sector constructed support services for students in later grades by concentrating on such narrow areas and identifying developmental and health issues that contributed to those characteristics. It was crucial to realize that screening aids in the creation of tailored education plans for the succeeding educational stages (Nielsen, 2020). By addressing unique learning requirements, these programs enabled students to give teachers the resources they needed to be successful.

Coming to the realization that screeners are beneficial was needed to fill the current research gap in light of the nature of screening and its importance. Assessment of the reliability of tests was performed by stakeholders for listening, visual, cognitive, and emotional development. That was essential to looking into the possibilities in this area. Some possibilities included raising public awareness of early childhood screening (Nielsen, 2020). Early detection by educators was essential to provide children with specialized support that enabled them to obtain the knowledge they needed to succeed in higher-level classes (Campbell, 2020). To evaluate the topic, I employed a qualitative approach. To acquire information from the respondents, the researcher employed questionnaires (educators). The researcher needed descriptive statistics as a necessary requirement before drawing any conclusions about the topic.

#### **Purpose Statement**

This qualitative case study's objective was to investigate how instructors perceived the early childhood screening that was conducted on pupils at the XYZ School in Eastern Saudi Arabia. ECS broadly referred to the research as a test of cognitive and social-emotional abilities.

#### Significance of the Study

A large body of literature on early childhood screening had been published, and much of it had high potential benefits. Children were frequently prioritized as the subjects of these investigations. The other facets of the process received very little focus. This study helped shed light on how the stakeholders, in particular the teachers, viewed the influence of this approach on the children and the support services that are provided to them as they advance in their schooling. The results of the study affected the research body in three different ways: theoretically, experimentally, and practically.

### **Theoretical Significance**

The research literature provided more insight into the social constructivism theoretical framework, particularly regarding the use of social interactions to enhance learning outcomes (Trent et al., 1998). The teacher's perspectives were critical in determining how early childhood screening recipients adjust when they enter first grade and progress in their academic careers (Walker & Graham, 2021). The results of the study looked at how teachers create relationships with students and whether these ties are beneficial for a child's development using the theory of self-regulation (Olivier et al., 2018). Teachers had a lot of influence over their pupils. They got the knowledge from early childhood screeners, which gave them this power. The screeners gave them access to the knowledge and abilities that students need to develop in order to succeed as students. The teachers then understood how to structure their lessons to benefit every student.

Teachers had the power to use it either positively or negatively. If a teacher did not encourage their students, the students began to doubt their own abilities. On the other side, teachers who sought to build a good self-concept were more likely to have self-confidence, and they were successful in their lives (Reyhing & Perren, 2021).

#### **Empirical Significance**

By examining teachers' perceptions on the influence of early childhood screening on the child's development and the services they need to be engaged in, such as entertainment education, this study furthered the empirical studies (Bubikova-Moan et al., 2019). The state of early childhood screening was determined with the input of educators, and this information was a crucial resource for policymakers (Hirai et al., 2018). To improve the lives of the children, policies that had a favorable impact on early childhood screening were looked into. This action entailed talking with lawmakers about the best ways to mandate early childhood screening for all children (Ulferts et al., 2019). The right stakeholders better planned and implemented the strategies to improve the quality of early childhood screening by evaluating these opinions (Silver et al., 2018). This study gathered the pertinent data from schools with teachers that use ECS in order to create complex policies to solve this issue.

#### **Practical Significance**

Early childhood screening had a significant impact on children's growth and learning in both the short and long term (Watts et al., 2018; Lipkin et al., 2020). The success or ineffectiveness of screening tools as perceived by the teachers in this study helped assess how appropriate the tools now in use were and whether they had the potential for widespread adoption in all learning centers throughout Saudi Arabia. The findings of the study show if the tools being used fit within the context of the county's early learning system's programs and services. The screeners enabled stakeholders, in particular teachers and parents, to understand which tools to use and whether it was necessary to create a brand-new tool that addressed all of the important factors.

## **Research Questions**

It was clear that much work had to be done before early childhood screening was fully adopted in all educational facilities in Saudi Arabia. Few institutions, though, have made this process mandatory because they recognize its advantages. These institutions served as helpful standards for expanding this initiative. Due to this, the following research questions were posed in this study:

## **Central Research Question**

What are the childhood educators' experiences with the mandated screening tests that are used in Pre-K and Kindergarten?

### **Sub-Question One**

What are the ways in which the Pre-K and Kindergarten instructors use the screening data to guide their instruction?

#### **Sub-Question Two**

How do Pre-K and Kindergarten instructors make use of screening data to establish beneficial connections with their students?

#### **Sub-Question Three**

How can Pre-K and Kindergarten instructors use screening data to enhance their children' social-emotional learning goals?

#### Definitions

- Developmental milestones- The behaviors and physical characteristics that children should possess as they mature and develop. For instance, a toddler (ages 1-3) should be able to walk unassisted (English et al., 2019).
- Early Childhood Screening (ECS) A method for identifying potential health or developmental disorders in young children between the ages of three and five (Pauker et al., 2018).
- 3. Perception- How something is viewed, perceived, or comprehended (Qiong, 2017).
- 4. *Pre-K (short for* Pre-Kindergarten) A free preschool program that is held in classrooms for children under five (Carr et al., 2021).

#### **Summary**

This qualitative case study's goal was to investigate how teachers perceive their interactions with the ECS for students at the XYZ School in Eastern Saudi Arabia. The researchers emphasized the importance of early intervention in supporting students with targeted interventions that allowed children to acquire knowledge that would support their success in subsequent grades. Reading through the research, I found that preschoolers did not get the early screenings required for efficient intervention services. In order to support learners, the authors also emphasized the importance of cooperation between parents, educators, and healthcare professionals. In preparation for this study, the research on the conceptual, social, and historical backgrounds of teachers' opinions of early childhood screening was reviewed. This led to the identification of a research void that this study aims to close. The favorable impact that the study's findings had on the theoretical, empirical, and practical aspects of this field of study was noted by the authors. In particular, the study aims to shed light on the element of teacher-student connections in the conceptual framework of self-efficacy proposed by Olivier et al. (2018). The findings of the study provided stakeholders with information on suitable screening technologies. It served as the foundation for the creation of a strategy for the national adoption of early childhood screening programs. By examining teachers' opinions on how ECS affected children's development and the activities they were given, the study empirically contributed to the body of knowledge. Four research questions were developed by the researchers; one is the main topic, and the other three are sub-questions.

#### **CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### **Overview**

To investigate the lack of early childhood screening in schools, a thorough assessment of the literature was done. In this chapter, a survey of recent literature on the subject of the study is presented. The ideas related to social constructivist theory, the theory of the priority of needs, the education quality offered in early childhood centers and schools, as well as how pupils adjust to school in an early childhood environment, were reviewed in the first portion. The second section compiled recent research on how attendance influenced early childhood screen time achievement scores. The literature on the advantages of early childhood interventions was then discussed. There was a gap in the research that had been found, which suggested a necessity for the current investigation. Researchers in the field of education increased the body of knowledge and created instructional models that were more successful by identifying research gaps. Because learning began long before a child enrolled in formal training, the modern instructional system was built on the parent-teacher partnership.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

A theoretical framework was essential for serving as a framework for the survey questions and a lens for evaluating the data gathered from this study. Over the past ten years, early childhood screening in schools has been remarkably accepted. Nonetheless, various educators had differing views on the issue of children being screened for schooling (Booj & Nicolosi, 2021). There was a discussion among instructors about how early childhood screening affects future success. On the one hand, some educators contended that early childhood screening improved the effectiveness of student assistance programs including peer tutoring, private tutoring, note-taking, and test preparation, among others (Accardo et al., 2019). On the other hand, some educators were of the opinion that early childhood screening had little bearing on how well student support programs performed in subsequent years.

Early childhood screening included tests for vision, hearing, weight, IQ, language skills, social development, and flexibility, among other things (Kelly, 2019). Children's phenomena were extensively examined, as was already noted. Unfortunately, there were gaps in our knowledge of how instructors see screening and its significance (Brayant & VanGraafeiland, 2020). To build a framework for comprehending teachers' perspectives on child screening, social science ideas in education were applied.

The notions of self-regulation and social constructivism were compatible since both philosophies were based on cognitive development theory, which holds that people are intrinsically motivated and active learners. Experience reflection, social interactions, and cultural contacts all helped refine development (Oppong et al., 2019). So, according to social constructivists, developing beliefs and theories about how students control their skills, efforts, and tactics to accomplish their goals was self-regulation. Students' opinions and views were tied to their developmental stage and evolved as they gained new knowledge and experience.

As a result, the chapter discussed a few possibilities concerning how early childhood screenings were seen by instructors. The social constructivism hypothesis was one of the best-known theories in the field (Broodie et al., 2022). This idea contended that social contact and language usage were the sources of knowledge. The theory of self-regulation was the other theory that was utilized in early childhood education. According to this hypothesis, performance was significantly influenced by confidence (Margolis & Mccabe, 2006). In other words, low-self-efficacy students did worse than high-self-efficacy pupils.

#### **Theory of Social Constructivism**

29

The social constructivism hypothesis was created by Lev Vygotsky, one of the most prominent Soviet psychologists. After conducting an extensive investigation to gather all of his thoughts, Vygotsky developed the theory in the early years of 1978. (Vygotsky, 1978). The main goal was to confirm that the theory adequately explained the importance of collaborative learning. Piaget and Perry's perspectives on education and learning differed, which was the main reason Perry developed the constructivism hypothesis (Douglass, 2019). Whereas Vygotsky believed that social and cultural interactions were the source of human development and learning, Piaget proposed that cognitive development occurred in universal and sequential stages. He therefore developed his theory based on his disagreements with them as well as their fundamental presumptions. His main goal was to demonstrate how cognitive activities were crucial for the learners' development of fundamental interactions. In order to avoid making any fundamental assumptions, he concentrated on using facts rather than making assumptions about how the students would react to schooling.

## Table 1

<b>Researchers:</b>	Vygotsky:	Piaget:	Perry:
Views on Learning:	<ol> <li>Takes place through social contact.</li> <li>There was a Zone of Proximal Development for cognitive growth.</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Children actively participated in their education.</li> <li>Children learned when they adjusted to what was going on around them.</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Students went through stages of intellectual and moral development while in college.</li> <li>Imagined novel ideas</li> </ol>
Education in a School Setting:	<ol> <li>Believed in team- based learning.</li> <li>Believed in social environments</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Favored research and experimentation.</li> <li>Instructors offered activities that encouraged critical thinking.</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>You will be smarter the more facts you learn.</li> <li>Powerful individuals own all the solutions</li> </ol>

#### **Researcher Beliefs**

Vygotsky elaborated on how a learner's viewpoint on education was influenced by culture and language. It had a significant impact on how young toddlers began to comprehend their environment and their own cognitive development. The constraints imposed by cultures were being completely removed by children (Campbell, 2020). As a result, culture and language were crucial in ensuring that children interacted with those in their nearby surroundings. The main goal of social constructivism was to make the learners aware of the importance of observing the real world around them (Odom, 2016). While agreeing with other theorists, Vygotsky placed more emphasis on the importance of describing the stimulus. He used the factor of collaborative learning, which previous theorists had not covered. It had aided Vygotsky in developing the various developmental stages that learners should experience.

According to social constructivist learning theory, social contact and language usage are the sources of knowledge. Trent et al. (1998) claimed that this hypothesis guided early childhood screening. Trent et al. (1998) argued that taking socio-cultural circumstances into account was crucial in enhancing educational attainment, even though this theory does not provide the ultimate solution to all issues in special education. In this situation, teachers modified their teaching tactics to benefit children with learning difficulties by utilizing social connections. It implied that children with learning impairments interacted socially with others. That was a great tactic since children pick up on social context (Flower et al., 2020). They committed to picking up new skills from the brand-new social environment that advanced their schooling.

Trent et al. (1998)'s arguments are supported by Odom (2016), who claimed that theory was still a key component of early childhood screening and teaching. Constructivism and other psychological theories were crucial in this situation for comprehending how children learned and developed. The idea of social constructivism, according to Odom (2016), guided scientific and professional opinion based on social circumstances that characterized learners with disabilities and their interactions with family and societal institutions. Akpan and Beard (2016) broadened this viewpoint by pointing out that this theoretical approach cuts down on the amount of time students spend studying for exams. In this situation, there was a change from educator training to learner-centered plans.

According to Akpan and Beard (2016), a strong legislative framework was used to support the use of the constructivist educational philosophy. The *Every Student Succeeds Act's* (ESSA) 2015 enactment reflected the goal of meeting the needs of all students. Such a strategy was essential for increasing the adaptability of learning models (Lipkin et al., 2019). Students' strength was regarded to be a strong driver in reaching learning goals if educators acknowledged scholars' independence.

According to Odom (2016), who supported this new strategy, sociological and psychological approaches were used in meeting the demands of learners. Structuralism and functionalism were combined to help educators comprehend how social influences like supportive family networks impact children's behavior.

Social constructivism was not without its detractors. The conceptual theory argued that knowledge developed or was found in an individual eccentrically because it was not personal and not transmitted straight from one person to another (Jung, 2019). They emphasized learning strategies that were beginner-centered and discovery-oriented. This internal psychological debate was only fueled by social interactions and settings. Contrarily, social constructivists or realists acknowledged that social context was a key factor in learning. They argued that students got immersed in their learning community through contact with their immediate learning environment and gained the required understanding from their prior skills (Shotter, 2019). Hence, it was thought that learning was a situation- and context-specific process.

#### **Theory of Self-Regulation**

The self-regulation hypothesis was concerned with how individuals select and work toward goals and adjust their efforts in light of challenges and opportunities arising from their social and natural environments. Wesarg et al. (2020) asserted that the self-regulation hypothesis placed a strong emphasis on the role played by individuals in selecting, pursuing, and modifying objectives in light of the possibilities and constraints that direct their developmental routes. With adolescence came increased educational, social, and social demands, as well as changes in

33

physical, cognitive, emotional, and social capacities. These additional demands and opportunities created new hurdles to self-regulatory competence.

Self-regulation in adolescence was the capacity to choose and pursue individually important and socially beneficial goals, as well as to restrain or divert urged pertaining to one's quality, development, or health. After describing theoretical frameworks for self-regulation, the constructs associated with these theories were applied to assignments, leisure-time physical exercise, thinking about one's purpose in life, parenting, and therapy (Ten Braak et al., 2019). Individual success requirements were established by participants, such as the obligation to place at least once in a competition, even if the competition received external prizes. People had learned the standards they set for themselves through modeling. Issues occurred because the model was significantly more accurate than the observer (Geeraerts et al., 2020). On the other hand, children appeared to be more likely to imitate the values of underwhelming or mediocre role models and establish reasonable expectations for their age group.

Self-evaluation is the result of comparing one's performance to certain standards over time. With relation to social learning, a person's self-concept changes from a favorable one to a negative one depending on how they perceive themselves (Brandes-Aitken et al., 2019). Overall, the complexity of this process made predicting an individual's behavior difficult. Unexpected ways in which behavior departs from conventional societal norms are common. Nonetheless, it appeared that this was the case in many different civilizations, indicating that it was a typical human process.

When adults were friendly and warm to children, they developed self-control. Children had been picking up knowledge from watching adults around them. Early infancy was when children began to regulate themselves. It grew quickly throughout infancy and before the start of

34

school but had been continuing to do so until maturity (Robson et al., 2020). For instance, a baby might have been looking away when she was sleepy, wanted to leave her caretaker, or sucked her finger to comfort herself. For food and toys, toddlers held out for a short while. Little toddlers, however, had the ability to take things from other children if they so desired. Early childhood education students had begun to learn how to play with other children and what was expected of them. For instance, young toddlers were encouraged to be spoken to quietly in movie theaters. Children who were in school got better at controlling their wants and needs, visualizing other people's viewpoints, and weighing all of their options (Savina, 2021). Preteens and teenagers were able to plan, persevere through demanding activities, act in socially acceptable ways, and show empathy for other people's feelings (Cole et al., 2019). While discussing a curfew with their parents, for instance, teenagers understood their parents' perspective.

#### **Related Literature**

In the past 20 years, a lot of material on child screening and education has been compiled. The literature covers a wide range of the ideas covered in this section. These ideas included the value of early childhood education, school adjustment, quality of education, and development (Wolff et al., 2020). The effectiveness of education was examined in terms of how a learning environment affects the growth of learning competencies. Also, this subsection showed how student performance was impacted by the quality of education. Also, children's ability to learn was significantly impacted by how well they acclimatized to school. The capacity for self-regulation was one of the factors that affected school adjustment. The success of students took early indicators of performance into account.

The section also emphasized how attendance affects performance. The idea of selfregulation was highlighted in this section (Booj & Nicolosi, 2021). This covered the area of selfregulation and techniques for enhancing it in early childhood and early schooling. On the basis of cognitive and social factors, the impacts of participation on performance were explored (Brayant & VanGraafeiland, 2020). The advantages of early childhood education were discussed in the final section. These advantages result from primary prevention as well as social and emotional growth.

#### **Early Education Factors**

In young people, the growth of the brain and other bodily organs happens quickly. All other bodily components were developed under the guidance of the brain. Garcia et al. (2020) found that brain development aided a child's social, cognitive, motor, and psychological development. The developing brain of the youngster aided in the development of new skills. Early education had an impact on preschool pupils' brain development.

Preschool education was related to students' mathematics abilities and skills in the first and third grades, according to Lehrl et al. (2016). Children in elementary school performed better academically when their homes provided supportive learning environments. Preschool education, according to Lehr et al. (2016), increased students' proclivity. Children who had exposure to reading and writing before beginning formal education performed better academically than those who had not (Schochet et al., 2016). Children learned to count at a young age, preparing them for the first grade's mathematical needs (Lehrl et al., 2016). This viewpoint was expanded by Schochet et al. (2020), who claimed that early care was still crucial for screening children. The requirement for learners to go on to the next stage was highlighted in this context by centerbased early childhood education.

Lehr et al. (2016) asserted that the home learning environment is crucial for preschool education. So, early and subsequent educational environments were essential for the transition to

high school. Lehrl et al. (2016) sampled 554 German children between the ages of 7.5 and 9.3 for the study (grades 1-3). The findings showed that enhanced preschool quality through qualified teachers and helpful resources was essential in the following stages of children's lives. The study also showed that parents' encouragement was crucial in helping elementary school students maintain their math abilities. The authors of the study by Schochet et al. (2020) concentrated on the crucial role that inclusion plays in meeting the needs of diverse learners. Researchers claimed that educators take socioeconomic disparities in society into account (Walker & Graham, 2021). Teachers and preschool directors took into account the use of tools and educational resources that support children from underprivileged backgrounds as well as those with developmental and cognitive impairments.

### Environment

Youngsters didn't need to be overly pushed to acquire certain talents or learn from them (Brayant & VanGraafeiland, 2020). A quiet setting where children could exercise their creativity was necessary for some of these abilities, which were innate. Early childhood education was crucial because it provided children with the best setting to learn and develop their innate skills (Ansari, 2018). Due to their lack of experience teaching children, parents were not in the best position to teach their children the basic skills of childhood (Twum-Antwi, 2019). As a result, they turned to enrolling their children in preschools run by qualified early childhood educators (Booj & Nicholas, 2021). How a child learns and interacts with others in society depends on the kind of foundation they receive during their early schooling.

According to Broodie et al. (2022), learners built their early numeracy skills in supportive preschool contexts. Parental support was another foundation for preschoolers' intellectual curiosity. According to Campbell (2020), learners beginning at age three had superior

pre-reading and writing ability than kindergarteners at age four, which lends credence to this claim. The two arguments demonstrated how important early learning environments were for enhancing students' abilities (Bryant, 2020). To support this theory, there was evidence that preschool training also had an impact on early childhood cognitive development. Wolff et al. (2020) discovered in their study that executive functions and other cognitive capacities started to develop around the age of two. At this age, the majority of children had not yet started formal education (Campbell, 2020).

According to Sokol et al. (2019), interactive consequences occurred in preschool and home learning contexts. The two environments worked together in this situation to support young learners' learning results (Broodie et al., 2022). The authors looked into how settings at home and in preschool affected learning (Amin et al., 2021). The study found that if appropriate training materials were used in both settings, learners developed early numeracy abilities. In the study, the idea of inclusive learning as a crucial step in handling diversity arose.

In order to create inclusive educational environments, it was essential to implement tailored education programs. This viewpoint was supported by Booj and Nicholas (2021), who mention that Jumpstart (child development) programs allowed educators to assess children's health and social-emotional development (Campbell, 2020). Such a strategy continued to be important for raising the standard of pre-K programs at the state level. In their research in Oklahoma, Souza et al. (2019) found that tailored educational methods and peer interaction were essential for raising academic achievement.

### Quality of Instruction

Preschoolers in rural areas experience differences from their urban counterparts. The supportive home learning environments and center-based early childhood care that were present

in urban centers were key benchmarks that some schools in rural areas failed to satisfy (Burchinal et al., 2014). A similar viewpoint was expressed by Johnson et al. (2019), who stated that kindergarten teaching in very well-equipped settings was of greater quality than that in minimal settings (Ulferts, 2019). In this regard, the ability of low-income schools to manage students' emotional, social, and cognitive development was weaker. The inequalities between students in low-income settings and their counterparts in high-income communities needed to be taken into account, according to Bryant (2020) and Duglass (2019). In this context, it was difficult to disregard differences in the amount of ongoing professional development provided to teachers in rural (low-income) contexts.

According to Johnson et al. (2019), administrators raised the level of instruction by boosting public funding for preschools, which lends credence to their claim. The findings by Johnson et al. (2019) were consistent with those by Sokol et al. (2019). They argued for getting a head start on fostering early reading abilities in pupils and assessing young learners at each level of the academic cycle (Flower et al., 2020). In addition, instruction quality differed according to household income. Low-income children attend public schools that are overcrowded (Ancheta et al., 2021). The large population made it difficult to provide high-quality instruction. Contrarily, children from wealthy families were accepted into reputable private schools that had the necessary funding for top-notch instruction (Lipkin et al., 2020). Such differences frequently showed up in academic accomplishment and later-life success.

## Early Predictors of Poor Performance

It was crucial to screen children for sleeping issues from birth through age five. Problems with adjusting to school beginning around age six were what led to the need for this (Sadeh et al., 2015). Children with sleeping issues frequently struggled to attend school, according to

Campbell (2020). Moreover, sleep issues had impacted on focus, which eventually results in poor academic achievement. In severe circumstances, sleep issues are the cause of emotional issues, including mood changes (Souza et al., 2019). If a child had sleep problems, socialemotional adjustment became difficult around the seventh year. Early therapies were necessary for behavioral and concentration problems, claim Sadeh et al. (2015). Many parents were unaware of how sleep issues might affect children's cognitive development (Sokol et al., 2019). This method postponed early treatment during the following stages of the learners' lives (Walker & Graham, 2021). Education professionals were trusted based on comments made by parents regarding developmental and behavioral problems. These details were crucial during the screening process and assisted teachers in implementing inclusive curricular strategies and inclusive learning. Delayed speech was one of the signs that a child had reading difficulties. Delayed speech indicates that a child's brain was developing slowly, which reduced his capacity for reading (Turan & Nagihan, 2019).

# **Ability to Self-Regulate**

Recent years have seen remarkable advancements in self-regulation theory and research growth (Douglass, 2019). The theory of self-regulation and how it affects children' academic performance and achievement in adulthood are topics that more researchers are starting to pay attention to (Wolff et al., 2020). Turan and Nagihan (2019) defined self-regulation as the process by which a learner activates and maintains cognitions and behaviors to attain learning goals, despite the fact that there was no universally accepted definition of the concept. Similar to this, Schunky and Greene (2018) described self-regulation as the process through which students influence their ability to achieve academic goals. In educational environments, self-regulation is unquestionably important (Booj & Nicholas, 2021). Self-control strengthened the idea of lifelong learning. There was a wealth of literature available that focused on self-regulation in the classroom (Campbell, 2020). Although Lipkin et al.'s (2020) study addressed some aspects of self-regulated learning in the classroom, this study was notable for highlighting the importance of self-regulation in young children. According to Bryant (2020), self-control and regulation were crucial for academic success, adaptability, and preparation (Broodie et al., 2022). By putting an emphasis on emotional stability and task attention, students developed the skill of self-control (Booj & Nicoloci, 2021). In order to improve self-regulation, caregivers and children had healthy interactions.

Strong self-regulation was essential for students' performance in the classroom and in adult life, according to Broodie et al. (2020) and Lipkin et al. (2020). Children who developed strong self-control early on had an easier time making the transition to formal education. The conceptual paradigm for self-regulation and its relation to academic success was immature despite receiving notable study attention recently (Eggers et al., 2021). Yet Campbell (2020) was certain that early self-regulation was used as a predictor of success in adulthood. The idea of self-regulation among toddlers is still complex at the moment (Howard & Vasseleu, 2020). The multi-component structure was used by Douglass (2019) to reduce self-regulation. Therefore, the physical, social-emotional, behavioral, cognitive, and motivational levels of self-regulation were grasped (Souza et al., 2019). Flowers et al. (2020) supported this strategy. Children's selfregulation depended on their capacity to coordinate and handle a variety of processes that progressively got more sophisticated, claimed Sokol et al. (2019). As a result, top-down synchronization of processes like the memory system and cognitive, motor, and verbal abilities resulted in self-regulation.

### Five Domain Model

Zimmerman (2011) concurred that the self-regulation process might be challenged. Etkin (2018) thus presented a five-domain model that was essential for comprehending students' self-regulation. The five domains helped make pupils more composed, focused, and attentive. Five domains biological, emotional, pro-social, cognitive, and social were found in Etkin's (2018) study. The biological field of study was nascent and poorly documented. But the evidence that was now available showed that self-regulation is a biological process that starts in infancy (Motroy et al., 2016). Yet, due to insufficient predictive methods, it was difficult to evaluate self-regulation. At the moment, teachers mostly evaluate students' self-regulation. McClelland and Cameron (2012) disagreed with this strategy and claimed that observer bias is an inherent flaw in teacher evaluations. As a result, it was difficult for young children to properly understand the biological domain. Children who struggled with self-regulation found it easy to adjust to school with the help of these boundaries.

The biological domain, according to Etkin (2018), emphasized physical endeavors and educational opportunities. But, as was already said, the biological realm was well established. Problems in biology had a direct impact on the other four categories that Etkin (2018) listed. Teachers helped students' behavioral self-regulation in the classroom, even if it might be impossible to fix these issues before they enter school. By controlling the students' conduct throughout the day, this was accomplished. According to Singer and Bashir (1999), teachers altered their tone, voice, and speech rate in order to help their students with self-regulation.

The executive and meta-cognitive domains were highlighted in connection to how students acquired knowledge in the cognitive domain (Etkin, 2018). According to recent studies on executive functions, pupils needed to understand when self-regulation was crucial (Binns et al., 2021). Better concentration, rational and critical thinking, effective comprehension, task prioritizing, and awareness of one's own strengths and shortcomings were all guaranteed by cognitive domain proficiency. According to Etkin (2018), the core competencies of the cognitive domain are meta-cognition and executive functioning. As a result, they are essential for special education teachers and other educators in the classroom.

Positive feelings were widely acknowledged as the cornerstone of academic performance and mental health. Early childhood educators must therefore prioritize developing emotional self-regulation. In order to help children achieve the finest emotional self-regulation, teachers encouraged perseverance and positive self-esteem, according to Etkin (2018). Akin and Radford (2018) supported this claim. According to Akin and Raford's (2018) research, academic achievement is built on resiliency and high self-esteem. Students' capacity to recover from damaging feelings like shame or frustration was hampered by issues with emotional selfregulation (Faith et al., 2020). According to Faith et al. (2020), success in the emotional domain supported the social domain.

A key factor in the success of self-regulation was the social domain (Zimmerman, 2011). The social domain, according to Etkin (2018), was crucial since children spent a lot of time interacting with others during extracurricular activities or at school. Faith et al. (2020) found that issues with self-regulation in the social domain were a result of issues in the emotional domain. Giving children equal opportunities and demonstrating empathy for them improved the social domain (Miranda et al., 2020). Social self-regulation helped students become more aware of who they were as learners.

The pro-social domain highlighted constructive conduct in the educational setting (Etkin, 2018; Twum-Antwi et al., 2019). Issues in the pro-social area result from issues in social relationships. Student disputes led to problems that impacted the other four domains. The ability

of students to self-regulate was enhanced by pro-social excellence. Pupils cooperated with other classmates and gained empathy and altruism (Zhang et al., 2018; Zimmerman, 2011). As a result, educators concentrated on encouraging character traits like integrity, genuine concern for others, and compassion in their pupils.

## Learning Disabilities and Self-regulation

Research and practices had been dominated by the false notion that students with impairments lack self-regulation. In the areas of auditory, memory, kinesthetic, visual, critical thinking, and logical thinking, learning disabled students struggled with self-regulation (Etkin, 2018; Zimmerman, 2011). Therefore, it was crucial to teach students who struggled with learning self-regulation abilities in order to combat impulsivity (Odinokaya et al., 2019). In order to ensure that all students have access to equal learning opportunities, an inclusion model has been developed.

Although having equivalent intellectual capacities to their peers, students with impairments faced particular difficulties that impaired their scholastic and performance levels (Etkin, 2018; McClelland & Cameron, 2012; Zimmerman, 2011). In addition, the majority of disabled students behaved impulsively (Odinokaya et al., 2019). Impulsivity, according to Erkin (2018), prevented self-awareness and the capacity to adapt behavior to the environment. According to Zimmerman (2011), teachers encouraged students with learning disabilities to be intrinsically motivated in order to increase their capacity for self-regulation (Walker & Graham, 2021).

#### Mindfulness

The study of using mindfulness to achieve self-regulation has received attention recently. "Being present and attentive in the moment aided pupils in making appropriate, aware

judgments", according to mindfulness research (Etkin, 2018, p. 37). Students who practiced mindfulness had to be attentive and conscious of their surroundings, thoughts, and feelings (Zimmerman, 2011). Through adhering to the principles of CorePractice, self-regulation in the form of mindfulness was accomplished. The three steps of the CorePractice technique were to halt, listen, and breathe (Hedges & Cooper, 2018). Choosing a comfortable seating position was the first stage (pause), and while listening, it was important to pay close attention to any sounds in the area. The final step entails methodical breathing, which required taking slow breaths. Zimmerman (2011) asserted that breathing improves introspective responses and behavior management. Moreover, CorePractice lessens stress and fosters thinking. This promoted wellbeing and the ability to achieve serenity through increased happy feelings.

There was scientific agreement that self-regulation and mindfulness were closely related. Moreover, the use of particular tools, such as singing bowls or nature sounds, helped to enhance awareness (Ahn et al., 2018). These resources aided students in unwinding and smoothly transitioning to the following assignment. According to Ahn et al. (2018), singing bowls aided students in regaining focus after finishing a task.

## Classroom and Self-regulation

Success with student self-control was dissociably linked to the educational environment (Zimmerman, 2011). The majority of a student's time was spent in the classroom. As a result, the effectiveness of their learning environment was crucial. According to Etkin (2018), educators have motivated students to own their learning, promote intrinsic motivation, and encourage them to actively participate in decision-making. Students better regulated themselves when they participated actively. Teachers provided a variety of self-regulation tools, like weighted blankets, yoga balls, microphone systems, and chewing gum when irritated (Kestenberg et al., 2018).

Etkin (2018) also highlighted learning conversations and communication as a way to encourage students to take ownership of their education. This encouraged their self-control both inside and outside of the classroom.

## **School Adjustment**

Parent-child contacts were essential for school adjustment, claim Kim et al. (2018). Adaptive adaptation results from parents' control over their children's social behavior. Williams et al. (2016) supported the viewpoint by pointing out that youngsters with self-regulation and sleep issues had a harder time adjusting to school life.

According to Chen et al. (2020), management in preschool classes during the early years of school involves relationships and social aspects. Based on how the children were engaged with their teachers and peers, the correlation between the two helped define the likelihood that the children will adjust to school. The child's overall personality development, including behavior and academic achievement in the classroom, was enhanced by proper school adjustment. The researchers also discuss the importance of parents and teachers in ensuring that children develop interpersonal interactions in the classroom through inquiry. Children's perceptions of social support from peers were greatly influenced by proper school adjustment. Peer victimization increased in the absence of support for school transition (Chen et al., 2020). Also, for a learner's present and future growth, positive interactions between students and teachers have been shown to enhance school adjustment (Hosan & Hoglund, 2017).

The work by Chen et al. (2020) was supported by Kahraman and Apak (2021), who described how teachers encouraged school modifications, particularly during the COVID-19 pandemic. Due to masks and distance limits for children, the pandemic had a significant impact on learning. Teachers planned their lessons accordingly and encouraged students to understand the value of masks and distance features. The study confirmed the closeness between parents and children, teachers and students, and peer groups as factors in school adjustment. This promoted the growth of interactions between students on a classroom level and provided cognitive, psychological, and emotional support, which promoted better adjustments. According to Zhu et al. (2021), social change had a significant impact on shyness and adjustment in early childhood education. As a result, a child's socio-emotional prospects had a significant impact on their ability to adapt. Preschool environments, which were demanding and stressful, were one of the main causes of adjustment problems. Due to the unfamiliar peers and social-evaluative concerns that preschoolers had while interacting with peers, children feel this way (Zhu et al., 2021). Early in life, children responded to the school environment in various ways. While some people were calm and had little distress, others experienced fear and anxiety. Hence, ensuring that the children had a better experience adjusting to their diverse schooling contexts was largely the responsibility of the teachers and parents.

While their interest, comfort, and engagement in school boosted their academic performance characteristics, a successful adjustment improved the children's experiences later in life (Demirtaş-Zorbaz & Ergene, 2019). A child's aptitude, skills, interpersonal environment, and related adjustment traits all affect how they adjust to school. The learners' behavior in the school environment was encouraged by the engagement of family, teachers, and classmates during the adjustment phase. A child had to learn to self-regulate and had to be introduced to different educational practices in a healthy way with the support of appropriate school modifications.

### Cognitive Development

Early infancy was crucial for forming immediate and long-term cognitive development practices, claim Tremblay et al. (2015). During this time, language, memory, and executive

function all experienced optimal cognitive growth (ability to control attention and action) (McClelland & Cameron, 2012). Students' academic achievement and task performance were negatively related to poor cognitive development in early childhood and school (Balkis et al., 2012). These observations were backed up by Sammons et al. (2004), who discovered that preschool experiences were essential for cognitive development. However, according to some researchers (Correia-Zanini et al., 2018), early experiences have more of an impact on cognitive development than the age at which a child enters school and the intensity of the educational program.

Children's cognitive development depends greatly on early instruction (Correia et al., 2018). It was clear that school attendance affected children's cognition based on the definition of cognitive development provided by Gauvian and Richert (2016), who defined it as "the process by which human beings obtain, organize, and learn to use knowledge" (p. 1). According to this viewpoint, the learning environment affected how students viewed the outside world. Children interacted with many environments, which shaped their worldview as a result of exposure to a variety of events at home and school.

The age at which students were admitted, the length of the programs, and the level of the academic program were all used to gauge student attendance. There were several different types of data on how entrance age affected cognitive development. The majority of the research focused on how other social characteristics, such as socioeconomic class, were constructed during early childhood cognitive development. Correia-Zanini et al. (2018) and Correia-Zanini and Marturano (2016), for instance, investigated the effect of social influences on the growth of cognitive abilities in young children. As a result, it was difficult to determine that attendance at school was the only factor that influenced cognitive growth.

Nonetheless, several cohort studies had been successful in examining the effect of children's attendance at a high-quality school on their performance (Bijsmans & Schakel, 2018; McCarey et al., 2007; Temple & Reynolds, 1999). These studies showed that students who started school much earlier achieved more academically than those who started school later. Morrissey et al. (2014) found a link between poor academic performance and low household income. Morrissey et al. (2014) claim that high absenteeism and tardiness among students from low socioeconomic backgrounds lead to poor academic performance. Compared to pupils from high-income homes, children from low-income families arrived at school significantly later (McCarey et al., 2007).

Correia-Zanini et al. (2018) investigated the connection between family background and early childhood education success despite the paucity of research on the effects of social factors on academic achievement. The study's conclusions (Correia-Zanini et al., 2018) might not, however, have been conveyed to the general public. Children were entering school at progressively younger ages (Byrnes, 2021). The majority of people adhered to the suggested age for starting school. Hence, socioeconomic variables might not have an effect on attendance age. Yet, wealthy families frequently provided access to preschool education for their children before they started school. Early exposure stimulated the growth of their cognitive abilities.

Children had a variety of psychological traits that influenced how they learned on the first day of school, according to Byrnes (2021). Pupils' prior knowledge, memory skills, motivation, and inherent aptitudes were all important factors in their capacity to learn (Papanastasiou et al., 2018). These learning-related variables, which guided how a student learns in the classroom, were referred to as "propensities" by Byrnes (2021). Another intriguing discovery from research on early cognitive development was that learning capacity increased with age (Germine et al.,

2011). Byrnes (2021) suggested that classroom teachers study cognitive-developmental views in order to better grasp the elements that influenced learning propensities. The teacher had monitored the development of the children throughout their education by looking at their learning preferences. The success of students in the future might be tracked using developmental perspectives (Papanastasiou et al., 2018).

## **Effects of Attendance on Achievement**

In order to achieve academic success in the first and third years, attendance at school was essential. Attendance had promoted behavioral modification, social development, and academic achievement stability (Correia-Zanini et al., 2018). Interaction between students, friends, and teachers in this setting enhanced general intelligence (Haslip, 2018). Such a framework fostered the development of the brain's cognitive processes (Booj & Nicolosi, 2021). The number of times a student had attended and engaged in various classroom activities was used to evaluate their performance. Attendance at school indicates that the young learner has taken part in all learning activities and has learned more.

In their setting, regular attendance was really important. Students from the municipal public elementary schools in Sao Paulo were sampled by Correia-Zaniniet et al. (2018). The authors found that higher preschool quality was associated with higher attendance rates and better performance after conducting numerous linear regression analyses. Students became more connected with one another and successfully adapted to new learning contexts as their attendance rates increased. Also, the researchers discovered little signs of stress in preschool-aged students who engaged with their friends often. The dispute over the fundamental importance of preschool quality and attendance rates for early learners' academic achievement persists.

According to a study by Ancheta et al. (2021), a student who misses class is losing out on the chance to learn something new. This explained how the connection between instruction and student attendance was made in order to improve their performance. When it came to motivating and ensuring that students were present for their lessons, the teacher's effectiveness had the biggest impact on successful attendance rates. The academic achievement of students who regularly attend school was higher than that of students who did not (Duke, 2020). After a youngster performed well in reading and arithmetic, their attendance helped them advance their academic careers. Attendance also lessens major consequences later in life, such as the epidemic of school dropouts and other adverse childhood experiences as a person matures. As a result, the issue of increased accountability among states, districts, and school administrations to maintain high student attendance was raised.

According to Sekiwu et al. (2020), students' grades improve when they attend class regularly. As a result, performance and attendance were related. Not all physical attendance, though, encourages or mandates improved student achievement. For instance, during this pandemic, the majority of schools shuttered and selected online education. As a result, participation in virtual learning also had an effect on learning, depending on the student's engagement and presence. The only way to guarantee that the pupils were participating in class was to create monitoring mechanisms. To encourage active engagement in the lesson during virtual learning, questions were asked of every student (Wolff et al., 2020). How professors interacted with their students, illustrated the course material, and provided effective feedback on their academic achievement in the wake of tests was more crucial (Kirksey, 2019). As a result, poor attendance among students became a risk factor for failure but was not always the root of

poor performance. Frequent attendance encouraged interaction between students and teachers, who acted as guides in elaborating on various points.

#### Social-Emotional Learning Adaptations

The classroom, according to Pritchard and Woollard (2013), was a very social setting. Pupils were engaged with teachers and other students the majority of the time. Certain events in daily interaction were aided or hindered by learning (Barrish et al., 1969). Attendance helped children develop coping mechanisms against pressure and behavioral skills like self-control and assertiveness. Collaboration with peers helped students raise their academic achievement (Correia-Zanini et al., 2018).

Children worked in groups in this situation to improve their skills. The first step in raising academic performance was to comprehend how social contact affected learning. Correia-Zanini and Marturano (2016) found that children developed friends from a variety of social backgrounds. Different friendships broadened their horizons and helped them get ready for adult life. Yet, these relationships occasionally produced pressures that hindered learning in later school years, particularly in early childhood schooling. According to Correia-Zanini et al. (2018), these pressures made it difficult to adjust to elementary school. Because of this, understanding socio-emotional stresses was essential for effective early childhood screening. Preschool and early education environments influenced the social and economic structure of society.

According to Correia-Zanini and Marturano (2016); Correia-Zanini et al. (2018), the period of early childhood education affected how well children adjusted to primary school. These studies showed that children who attended early childhood institutions for a longer period of time (greater than two years) adjusted better to elementary school. These assertions were debunked by a Shonkoff et al. (2012) study. Children that spent too much time in early schooling generated toxic stress, which impacted their academic achievement in later years, claim Shonkoff et al. (2012). Yet, genetic susceptibility that was not taken into consideration in a student's social life prior to or during school also impacted their socio-emotional development. For the treatment of disruptive stress, Shonkoff et al. (2012) offered a multidisciplinary eco-bio developmental framework that helped students who were under toxic stress.

The research also demonstrated that students' relationships outside of the classroom impacted their social lives inside it (Farrington et al., 2012). Student performance in the classroom was causally influenced by the nature of the relationships that children built with one another during playtime. Moreover, a student's socio-emotional development was affected by the quality of their relationships with their parents at home. Children from violent households experienced toxic stress, which impaired their academic performance, according to Correia-Zanini and Marturano (2016). Several researchers expanded on this line of inquiry, such as Morsy and Rothstein (2019) and Shonkoff et al. (2021). This field of study was growing in a promising way. Low-income family dynamics had impacted students' attentiveness and attendance at school.

### **Benefits of Early Childhood Education**

A child must receive early childhood education before entering primary school. The programming and lifelong preparation of children for learning were necessary (Ames et al., 2019). Early education laid the groundwork for this, instilled a love of learning in children, and equipped them with the social cues they needed to lead fulfilling lives in their communities (Heckman et al., 2021). Children who received early education were better prepared for the social, emotional, psychological, and physical growth that was necessary for a bright future. The

brain of a youngster was like a sponge, ready to take in any knowledge or programming that was presented to it (Ancheta et al., 2021). As a result, a child's early years are very important, and it is important to take great care to make sure they are introduced to the right kind of training and education. One significant benefit of enrolling children in early childhood education with poorly trained staff was that it increased the likelihood of seeing any behavioral or developmental issues (Jamison, 2018). These educators had received training to understand the characteristics of a child's typical development at every stage of life. As a result, teachers were able to quickly identify the children who didn't like the tools and techniques for learning that were being used.

Early childhood education seems crucial for maintaining children's cognitive development, claim Bakken et al. (2017). Early childhood nutrition, education, and health interventions were combined to benefit children's wellbeing. The long-term benefits of early childhood education, including emotional maturity, improved social interactions, higher academic skills, and discipline, were highlighted by Vikram and Chindarkar (2020), who lend credence to this idea.

Early childhood education is essential for holistically shaping a child and providing them with a solid foundation for life. Their schooling was crucial because it improved their socializing with classmates and professors who were people from contexts other than their families (Gupta, 2020). Schools had offered a secure setting for a child's relationship development while exposing them to other situations so they met new friends and gained more life support (Ansari et al., 2019). A youngster had developed self-assurance while developing social skills and an understanding of cooperation, sharing, taking turns, and perseverance in secure learning environments. With a solid basis for their social, emotional, mental, and physical growth, this promoted their development as a whole. Early childhood education was essential because it fostered in children a love of learning that lasts a lifetime. Their enthusiasm for learning grew, which encouraged them to read, learn, and explore. In addition, teachers served as role models for students by sharing their own experiences. Students were taught the importance of respect for others, their property, and the environment in early childhood education. Children learned and were exposed to the value of teamwork as a result of the educational opportunity. Children pick up skills including listening, respecting others' perspectives, equality, and teamwork. This helped them become more socially aware and more employable when they got older.

According to another study by Ulferts et al. (2019), a child's start in life is enhanced by high-quality early childhood education. In this situation, the child had the opportunity to learn and grow on cognitive, psychological, and physical levels. The ability of the child to make friends, gain independence, and pick up new habits were three key advantages of early childhood education. Following their learning environment, education was supported young children's brain growth. Children are prepared to learn from birth, and the first five years of life account for 90% of brain development (Ulferts et al., 2019). Also, schooling gave children a solid foundation for their future, including their upcoming academic and professional endeavors. They met new pals during their preschool years through interactions in the classroom. So, in the context of their early childhood education, their interpersonal skills and attributes were developed. Finally, when they learned to spend time away from home in an unfamiliar setting, the children gained independence.

### Early Intervention

When nurtured and trained in the same manner, children developed consistently. Regrettably, not all children developed and behaved in ways that were expected for their age and stage. To keep up with other children and go through every developmental stage required for life, these children needed extra care (Sediqzadah et al., 2022). As a result, early childhood educators were critical and well-suited to identify these children and provide the necessary diagnostics of their behavior. They were in the best position to recommend interventions that would promote the children's healthy development. Early intervention was the process of spotting a problem in a child's behavior and developmental pattern and giving young children who were at risk of developmental difficulties early and efficient support systems (Chanen et al., 2020). It aided in preventing or preparing for potential developmental issues in children before they had an irreversible negative impact on their adult lives.

Early intervention for children with developmental issues took many different forms, like visiting the children at home to support parents who were in need. The main methods for assisting children in growing their social and emotional abilities around other children were school-based programs. Other approaches included mentoring programs that work with impressionable young children who might develop criminal lives (Ulferts et al., 2019). Due to limited exposure to negative stimuli and immature character development, child development experts argued that the most significant effects of intervention occurred in the early stages of a child's development. As the children had not developed any ideals or opinions about anything, it was relatively simple to alter their mentality at this age. Nonetheless, a child were benefited greatly from a successful intervention at any stage of their development. The expression and impact of risk factors were lessened with the aid of early intervention, which also strengthened the child's protective factors. Risk factors were items a child encountered in their surroundings that endangered their ability to develop normally. These experiences restricted the child's possibilities for social and economic advancement, caused them to engage in criminal activity, or encouraged them to begin using or abusing substances. They found them at the family, group, and individual levels. Protective factors supported the prevention of risk factors and promoted the healthy growth and well-being of the children.

The purpose of early detection was to promote normal physical, behavioral, cognitive, social, and emotional development (French & Kennedy, 2018). These elements were evaluated in accordance with predetermined standards, which changed depending on the variables influencing the child's growth in each location. The child's health, physical impairments, and bodily maturation rates all fell under the category of physical development. Learning language and speaking, reading and writing skills, numeracy or arithmetic skills, and reasoning were all components of cognitive development. The ability of the children to control and manage their behaviors and impulses was considered in the study of behavioral development. It entailed assisting children in controlling aggressive tendencies, antisocial behaviors, and criminal propensities (Vivanti & Stahmer, 2018). Children who were socially and emotionally developed were better able to identify and understand their own emotions as well as those of other children. It taught children how to handle self-esteem difficulties and deal with hurtful remarks and emotions. It aimed to lower the likelihood of mental health problems and depression while assisting in the development of healthy relationships. Child abuse, exposure to and expression of dangerous sexual behaviors, and substance abuse were three main early intervention targets that endanger a child's development. These were the primary factors linked to the child's actions throughout adolescence and adulthood that had significant consequences.

Early childhood interventions have a significant impact on the academic and cognitive development of underprivileged children (Luo et al., 2018). Early interventions aided educators in understanding the unique requirements of particular children in this area. It was

important that, through early intervention, educators and caregivers uphold societal standards like equality (Luo et al., 2018). This claim was supported by Ramey and Ramey (2004), who pointed out the importance of early childhood interventions for linguistic development and school readiness. In this context, early childhood paved the path for mathematical and reading abilities. It was also criticized for ignoring the importance of early intervention in the placement of students in special education.

#### Social-Emotional Learning Development

Early childhood development was dependent on social and emotional learning techniques, including emotional control, empathy, and perspective-taking (McClelland & Cameron, 2012). These abilities helped create pleasant interactions with others in this situation. According to Zimmerman (2011), social and emotional development in the early years of life supported heterogeneous backgrounds and relationships. Such a viewpoint was aware of the variety in children's developmental needs.

Children between the ages of three and five were the students of early childhood educators. They were qualified and in charge of involving children in a range of activities that fostered their growth in all facets of life. They took great care to monitor the children's welfare and ensure that they experienced normal childhood development as they moved through the phases of development, keeping an eye out for risk indicators and making appropriate intervention requests when necessary (Jeon et al., 2019). These educators played a variety of other functions that promoted the growth of young children. They assisted in creating schedules and routines that focus on a certain area of the child's development (Sulistyaningtyas & Fauziah, 2019). Also, educators contributed to the development and upkeep of secure, comfortable learning environments for the children in their care. They carefully monitored children and assisted in implementing age-appropriate disciplinary measures to educate them about what was and was not acceptable in society. They were aware of which lessons would promote particular types of development in a child, and, as a result, the format of suitable lessons was planned for children at various developmental stages (Hoyne & Egan, 2019). Also, educators were in charge of addressing the cultural needs of the children and keeping an eye out for children with special needs. Also, they kept track of children's behavior, wrote reports, and interacted with parents and authorities to provide advice on what the children needed to improve their development.

## **Summary**

Early childhood screening procedures were scarce, which harmed both students and teachers. Therefore, as instructors, we informed the educational system of the advantages of early childhood screening methods by presenting data to back this claim because we must offer the greatest educational possibilities available (Ulferts, 2019). Researchers had looked closely at the quality of education provided to at-risk children when they examined why students were put in special education later rather than earlier in their academic careers. In addition, researchers investigated how students adapted to their academic environments. Such inquiries also examined the reasons some pupils were designated for special education. The focus of research on school adjustment was shifted to the influence of attendance on academic performance, social skills, conduct, and stress.

The study made use of theoretical frameworks to demonstrate the many perspectives that were included in a child's education. It had aided the study's development of an argument in which the theory was presented as the answer (Ulferts, 2019). The study made use of theoretical frameworks to demonstrate the researcher's expertise and commitment to his argument regarding special education.

Many early experiences prepared children for great success in their academic careers, according to a study. There was a void in the literature, nonetheless, regarding the long-term advantages of early childhood screening for students. According to evaluations of the claims made by various writers, there was a lack of research on the effects of both regular and irregular attendance patterns. To determine the consequences that happened when some students didn't attend preschool continuously for a year, more research was required. Stakeholders in education were better able to understand the effects of erratic attendance patterns on students' receptivity to statistical assessments and foundational early reading abilities with the aid of such analyses (Twum -Antwi, 2019). Although towns, rural areas, and metropolitan areas were used as study locations, it was crucial to consider the differences across K-12 preschools in North America, Europe, Australia, and other regions of the world. Such studies aided in understanding how different nations assess young children and carry out interventions, promoted inclusivity, and supported students with impairments. Evaluation of the considerable role that assistive technology plays in early childhood screening and curricular methods was also crucial. By filling in these gaps, academics have increased the body of literature.

Although educational screening procedures had been the subject of substantial research, little of it had focused on early childhood. We were also aware that by examining how early childhood screening procedures benefited both children and teachers, we laid the groundwork for education's continued success (Walker & Graham, 2021). We aimed to identify a thread connecting early childhood screeners to at-risk children who benefited most from early interventions by examining the quality of early childhood schooling, young students' preparation for school, and how their attendance affected accomplishment. In order to have an effect on young children, additional research was required in this area. The literature that was available showed that academic success and success later in life were products of numerous trans-disciplinary elements. While creating screening processes for children, it's important to consider social variables, cognitive factors, self-regulation, and the learning environment. This literature review suggests that propensities and characteristics that influence learning be examined as early as possible. This made it easier for teachers to create teaching methods that were tailored to each student's individual needs.

Also, the literature that was now accessible showed that parents played a crucial part in their children's academic success. Because children's cognitive growth begins as early as two years old, early exposure to learning was essential. Parents worked to limit screen time and promote growth. Also, because every child had a particular tendency, the period for enrollment was not viewed as a universal phenomenon. Thus, the government needed to change some laws to let parents enroll their children in school when they were sure they were ready. More significantly, parents gave their children a stimulating environment that promoted the best possible cognitive growth. Working with teachers undoubtedly improved learning and future achievement.

### **CHAPTER THREE: METHODS**

#### **Overview**

This qualitative case study's objective was to investigate how instructors perceived the early childhood screening that was conducted on pupils at the XYZ School in Eastern Saudi Arabia. The study methodology, steps, and techniques were covered in detail in this chapter. Given the nature of the investigation, an instrumental case study approach was chosen for this study. The study was based on a Saudi Arabian school system with an American-style curriculum. Teachers from this school district participated. The study covers three philosophical presuppositions: ontological, epistemological, and axiological. Also, the researcher asked participants and the appropriate authorities for permission to perform the study. They wanted to use a sample of 12 to 15 individuals. Individual interviews, document analysis, and observations were used to acquire data. Thematic content analysis (TCA) and thematic synthesis were used to assess the data obtained using these techniques and to create a single collection of themes. The validity of the study was also assessed using the framework proposed by Lincoln and Guba (1986).

#### **Research Design**

A qualitative case study research design underlies this study. I have decided to adopt a qualitative research design for my study in order to foster dialogue that is beneficial to all parties involved. I was able to interact in real time with the participants, who were educators, by using a qualitative approach to the subject of early childhood screening. Considering that the case study design was created to ensure that it delves deeply into the research, I also chose it. I have gathered all the data I need to put the final report together and present it. A research technique called the case study design was utilized to gain in-depth, comprehensive knowledge of a

challenging issue in its actual context (Hancock et al., 2021; Schoch, 2020). Its fundamental tenet was the requirement to thoroughly examine an event or phenomenon in its natural setting. This study, which aims to determine teachers' perspectives on employing early childhood screening instruments in the school context, was therefore considered to have the most suitable design. In particular, to get a deeper knowledge of early childhood screening methods, the study used a single instrumental case study approach, concentrating on one school (Pedersen et al., 2018; Piccioli, 2019). The case study made use of a variety of sources of data to investigate the phenomenon and illuminate a series of choices. The many sources of evidence used in this study included interview transcripts, screening records, and field research notes.

## **Research Questions**

## **Central Research Question**

What are the childhood educators' experiences with the mandated screening tests that are used in Pre-K and Kindergarten?

#### **Sub-Question One**

How do the teachers of Pre-K and Kindergarten use the screening data to guide their instruction?

### **Sub-Question Two**

How do Pre-K and Kindergarten instructors make use of screening data to establish beneficial connections with their students?

### **Sub-Question Three**

How do Pre-K and Kindergarten instructors use screening data to enhance their children's social-emotional learning outcomes?

## **Setting and Participants**

The location of this study was described in detail in the parts that follow. They also talked about the participants and the selection process. The prerequisites for their participation in this study were further described in the parts that follow. The sections went into detail about how the participants gave their consent so they might take an active part in the study and respond to any questions that were posed to them.

## Site

This research was conducted in the XYZ school district, which uses an American curriculum, in the Eastern Province of Saudi Arabia. This school district had a superintendent, principals, and assistant principals in positions of leadership. Also, the district had a student body that was diverse in terms of culture and employed teachers and staff who were primarily from western cultures. The students and staff at our institution hail from 66 different nations, including Saudi Arabia. Every teacher in the district is certified in North America and able to communicate clearly in English. The majority of children in the district were also proficient in English. The schools occasionally accepted older students who were ESL students (ELL). These students received ELL assistance until they achieved fluency. Children in the preschool program frequently spoke only rudimentary English when they first started school. The pupils started using English as their primary language of communication as the school year went on. Because it was crucial to consider early childhood screening on a worldwide level because it had the most influence on children, this location was selected.

#### **Participants**

I used data from the early childhood screening exams in this study's part on document analysis. Data from students who were currently enrolled in the preschool program and moving into kindergarten in the 2023–2024 school year was used in the screening evaluations. Boys and girls, all between the ages of three and five, make up this class. In an international Saudi Arabian scenario, I chose 12 preschool educators from various campuses in the XYZ school district. Despite the fact that their curricula were the same, the instructors' students came from a variety of cultural backgrounds (Creswell & Poth, 2018). A half-day preschool program leads to a full-day kindergarten curriculum. Twelve adults who had worked in education for more than five years make up the study's early childhood educators. Gender, ethnicity, and native language data related to students and educators were taken into account during the study.

## **Researcher Positionality**

The effective expression of a researcher's motivation for choosing to undertake research on a certain issue was referred to as "research positionality." In this instance, the study was concentrated on the early childhood screening assessment's effective definition. The proper use of primary care screening tools to identify young children who need additional behavioral or emotional evaluations was improved by the ECS classification. The acquisition of numerous logistical restrictions linked to primary care increased with the identification of at-risk pupils. For this study, my chosen research paradigm was pragmatism. To evaluate theories and ideas and analyze the efficacy of the study's early childhood screening assessment, pragmatism was a crucial strategy. Moreover, pragmatism was essential for anticipating, taking action, resolving issues, and rejecting diverse study hypotheses (Creswell & Poth, 2018). In order to clarify how reality is created through interactions between people, I based my research on the theory of social constructivism. I used three philosophical presumptions. They included the study's ontological, epistemological, and axiological presumptions.

## **Interpretive Framework**

Social constructivism served as the study's foundation. The idea that knowledge was a human creation that was socially and culturally built and that reality was created via human interaction was known as social constructivism (Grundmann, 2018). This study was appropriate for social constructivism since it advanced knowledge of how teachers viewed early childhood screening and how it affects students' access to social services in the future. Since the phenomenon under study occurs in a social setting, interactions between children have impacted it. When conducting studies on children and other populations, social constructivism was a particularly helpful viewpoint. This was due to the fact that it prioritized the connection between the social and developmental context and the population's individual needs (children in this case).

One of the major tenets of social constructivism was the significance of socialization, specifically its relation to how knowledge was formed (Kelly et al., 2018). According to social constructivism, teachers' knowledge was a product of collective experience. Or, to put it another way, knowledge was entrenched in the cultural context of behavior. Knowledge cannot be separated from its social context as a result. This perspective allowed the study to reflect the significance socialization and culture had on early childhood teachers' perceptions. Communication with peers who had similar historical developments in language and logic (also known as symbols) helped create this socially constructed knowledge by fostering a shared understanding of these symbols. All knowledge and subsequently all meaningful reality was derived from human activity, created through and as a result of interaction with humans and their surroundings, and disseminated within a social framework.

Where meaning arose, knowledge was created. A More Knowledgeable Other (MKO) inside the Zone of Proximal Development (ZPD) enabled meaning, with language acted as a

potent vehicle for intellectual adaptation (Hinduja, 2021). The difference between one's current and future degrees of growth was symbolized by this zone. Through social interactions, the socio-cultural environment shapes a person's opinions, values, and self-perceptions, enabling them to realize their greatest potential (Garner & Kaplan, 2019). As was already said, the social constructivism hypothesis acknowledged the importance of socialization in the formation of knowledge. This study acknowledged that early childhood teachers' socialization and professional connections had impacted their understanding of early childhood screening tools and, consequently, how they provided them to children.

# **Philosophical Assumptions**

The direction of the research goals and results were articulated in this section, which was crucial. The way one formulated their research questions and created the research problem was greatly influenced by their assumptions (Baškarada & Koronios, 2018). The way a person answers the questions has been impacted by these presumptions. These presumptions were ingrained in people's education and supported by the intellectual societies they belong to (Creswell & Poth, 2018). These communities drew inspiration from various disciplines or concentrated on a few areas of study. The assumptions had impacted how a study was assessed as well (Baškarada & Koronios, 2018). The three main philosophical tenets are therefore outlined in this study so that the study's methodology is obvious. The three philosophical presuppositions were thought to be ontological, epistemological, and axiological.

## **Ontological** Assumption

The study of ontology focused on the nature of reality. According to a social constructivist perspective, as people interacted in their world, they created meaning based on their historical and social settings (Al-Ababneh, 2020). As a result, I think early childhood

educators form their realities through interactions with people. Their interactions with one another, the pupils, and the environment produced different realities. To put it another way, since there was no absolute truth, we wanted to understand how instructors perceived their own beliefs and actions. Personally, I based my beliefs on what was quantifiable and universally observable.

## Epistemological Assumption

In science, epistemology was the philosophical underpinning of one's research (Al-Ababneh, 2020). As a result, my study's design was based on the philosophical and interpretive frameworks that presupposed that early childhood teachers' opinions of early childhood screening tools were influenced by their experiences. Their views of reality, as well as the production of new knowledge and reality, were influenced by their lived experiences. I have utilized educational screens for more than ten years, and I think that they have offered useful data to inform my instruction. I employed the social constructivist paradigm in my study, which was based on the following suppositions:

- 1. Early childhood educators had different opinions depending on their unique circumstances and experiences.
- 2. These teachers had a solid understanding of their field and the realities of early childhood screening thanks to their many years of classroom experience and contacts with students, parents, colleagues, and administrators.
- 3. In my role as a researcher, I interpreted what I saw, heard, and understood in the study environment based on my prior knowledge, experiences, and comprehension of the surrounding circumstances. For early childhood instructors, the same was true.

### **Axiological Assumption**

In axiology, judgment and value were important concepts. Researchers cannot avoid allowing their values to impact some aspects of their research, and doing so was neither practical nor desirable (Holman & Wilholt, 2022). I am conscious that values were embedded in the setting of this study and that inter pretivism and qualitative research were value-laden. So, both the respondent's and my interpretations must be taken into account. It's possible that my values don't match those of other instructors. The information that early childhood screeners gave me was valuable to me. As a result, I supported using screeners three times a year. I am, however, conscious of the influence my own and the participants' values had on the research.

## **Researcher's Role**

I was in charge of keeping an eye on things and minimizing the study's bias as a human instrument. The study's main presumption was that all of the data collected from the participants was accurate. Before creating the final report, extensive investigation was done to make sure the information was confirmed. I was conscious of when my thoughts drifted to my prior knowledge and continued to be open and sensitive to what the participants had to say. As the human instrument, I gained proficiency in the research methodology by accurately conducting the interviews in accordance with the design and communicating the research to possible participants without prejudging them. In accordance with the research design, I analyzed and interpreted the data. Three of the participants were currently my coworkers, which was one disclosure. Although I didn't work with them much, our campuses were connected. The volunteers in this study were not subject to my authority, although, as I mentioned, I do have a working relationship with three of them.

### Procedures

Information that was utilized to repeat this study in the future was included in the methods for this investigation. This section outlines the procedures for requesting authorization and implementing Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval. This section also included information on the recruitment of participants, the strategies for data collection and analysis per data source, and the triangulation strategy for this project. In order to make sure that the required information had been provided, the section also provided statistics on the information gathered and how it was utilized.

## Permissions

To perform the study, permission was obtained from the Institutional Review Board (see Appendix A). To conduct the study inside the school, site authorization (Appendix B) was requested from the administration. The potential participants (Appendix D) were next asked for their written and verbal agreement about their participation in the study. The fact that participation was entirely optional was made clear to the participants. At any point during the study, they were allowed to revoke their permission without giving a reason. Also, they were informed of the goals of the study and given the guarantee that their responses would be kept in strict confidence.

#### **Recruitment Plan**

I sent out a recruitment letter to ask for volunteers (Appendix C). The message was distributed through email and described the research and the participants' roles in the study. I sent emails to the research subjects and then followed up in person to address any unanswered inquiries about the study.

I was utilizing deliberate sampling. The respondents were chosen using criteria-based

sampling. The selection of the participants took inclusion criteria into consideration as well. Early childhood educators had a variety of training experiences. To fully respond to the study questions, educators also required a thorough theoretical grasp of developmentally appropriate behaviors. When early childhood screening is done on children between the ages of three and five, they also need to educate those youngsters. Finally, teachers must have at least five years of experience working with young children.

Twelve teachers from the XYZ school district made up the sample pool for this study. The five schools in the district were dispersed widely. Thirty full-time educators were employed at the institution under consideration. Using criterion sampling and the predetermined criteria listed above, a sample was chosen from this sample pool of 30. There were 12 individuals in the sample. The study's use of this sampling method made sense, given that it aimed to comprehend a phenomenon with lots of information. According to Ames et al. (2019); Moser & Korstjens, (2018), criterion sampling was also the best method for discovering a system's flaws, in this case, the flaws in the current early childhood screening instruments. This then influences how to make improvements. Also, it was chosen since it only included a small number of people, all of whom were contactable if further investigation was required. Before starting the study, all participants completed informed consent forms (Appendix D).

#### **Data Collection Plan**

Individual interviews, document analysis, and observations were used as the primary data collection methods for this project. Before delving into the data, personal interviews were held to ascertain the opinions and sentiments of the administration and teachers towards early childhood screening. After the interview process, I conducted a document analysis. Finally, I observed the instructors in the classrooms to evaluate how they were utilizing the data that had been gathered. To determine what insights the data offered the teacher and school, analysis was crucial. After giving it some thought, the order of data collection was maintained throughout the study to guarantee that the validity of the data was maintained and that replication was feasible.

## **Individual Interviews**

Data gathering techniques called "individual interviews" were used to interview people one-on-one. The interviewer acted as a tool to gather information during an interview. The interviewer used a sequence of pre-planned open-ended or closed-ended questions on the topics of interest to get information from the interviewee (Slade & Sergent, 2021). They conducted structured or unstructured individual interviews. Unstructured interviews lack a predetermined script, while structured interviews adhere to one (Williams & Moser, 2019). The interviewer used active listening techniques and documentation to gather the participant's information during the interview. The participant's viewpoint, knowledge, accounts, and attitude were all gathered by the interviewer. Themes, ideas, or models were developed from the interview data. I used the interviews to establish a personal connection with my study subjects. I had a better understanding of how each participant views early childhood screening technologies and their advantages for their classrooms after interviewing them all.

Early in the research portion of my project, I conducted interviews with the participating teachers. In order to guarantee that adequate time was allotted for each question to be completely addressed, the interviews took place before and after school. The interviews took place in the administrator's or teacher's office so that they felt at ease in a setting to which they were used. Interview questions about early childhood screening exams were used to gather data. I posed a series of pre-planned inquiries. The interview was recorded so that it could be transcribed later.

### Individual Interview Questions

- Please give a brief overview of your educational history and work experience up to this point. (Background)
- 2. Explain the difficulties you encounter while using early childhood screening exams. SQ1
- 3. Explain the effective teaching strategies you have developed as a result of using student screening tests in your classrooms. SQ1
- 4. Explain how you use early childhood screening data to pinpoint children' particular areas of need in your lessons. SQ1
- 5. Explain how you use the results of early childhood screenings to pinpoint the areas in which specific children in your classes excel. SQ1
- 6. Which professional development opportunities have you had that have helped you to be ready to work with early childhood screening data? SQ2
- Explain how you use the results of early childhood screening to create a deep connection with each student. SQ2
- 8. Is there anything we haven't covered in our discussion of your experiences with data collection that you would like to add? SQ2
- 9. Explain the effective techniques you employ when working with early childhood screening data to enhance children's learning results through social interactions. SQ3
- 10. What kind of information do screening results give you that helps you understand how to socially interact with specific students? SQ3
- 11. Explain the difficulties you encountered when using early childhood screening data to enhance children's learning outcomes through social interactions. SQ3

The aforementioned 11 interview questions were part of my interview protocol since I need information from several people to analyze for my study. The interview questions were chosen with the intention of examining the advantages and disadvantages of early childhood screening exams. I had chosen to examine how teachers contributed significantly to the screening assessment process and their perspectives on how early childhood screening affected classrooms and educational institutions.

To establish a rapport between the instructor being interviewed and myself, the first question was incorporated into the interview questions. With each instructor, I want to develop a trustworthy relationship, and this inquiry helped them feel at ease before responding to the next few inquiries. The opinions of instructors regarding the screening procedure used in their classrooms were covered in the following four questions. They discussed the advantages and disadvantages discovered throughout the screening process. When answering questions six through eight, teachers were asked about their preparation for giving screening exams, how the results had helped them develop relationships with their pupils, and how they felt about data gathering in general. The final few questions concerned the utilization of screening data by teachers to facilitate social interactions with their students. Questions about social interaction were closely related to students' learning objectives.

I asked specialists in screening tests to review the questions I selected. These professionals supported me as I completed my dissertation as committee members. I used the experts' advice to decide which questions were changed, as well as any that may have required clarification or reorganization.

### Individual Interview Data Analysis Plan

Thematic Content Analysis (TCA) was the data analysis technique I used for the individual interviews. By spotting recurring themes in the participant responses, this method made the thematic content of the interview transcripts clear (Vaismoradi & Snelgrove, 2019). TCA was chosen because it was objective when examining the data and was not dependent on the researcher's emotions or ideas about the issues.

The interviews were first captured on my phone for analysis. The interviews were subsequently written down using a transcription program. In order to find similar themes, I read through the interview transcripts while making notes of my initial impressions. To focus on key discoveries and have more concrete proof of the common themes, the transcripts were carefully reviewed a second time. The data was next annotated to help discover important qualitative data kinds and patterns. Also, it helped organize the data for distribution.

By spotting patterns in the coding, I created themes in the third stage (Williams & Moser, 2019). The data was next conceptualized by classifying the codes created during the annotation process into several categories and subcategories. After that, I was able to categorize the data by naming the categories and explaining how they related to one another. This procedure was made easier with the use of a spreadsheet. I was able to establish the main body of my data this way. I studied the segments at the end. This involved creating a figure to represent the results and establishing a hierarchy among the categories. The method was suitable for the case study mainly because it helped create a category for all the necessary material and made it easier to comprehend the discussion topic.

### **Document Analysis**

A qualitative research technique is document analysis, often known as document study (William & Moser, 2019). Document analysis examined written items that had been documented, whether they were personal or not, including annual reports, books, rules, journals, and policy documents (Busetto et al., 2020). Analyzing documents was a great way to look into how particular habits had changed. For data analysis, the researcher collected materials that address the issue of interest. They next looked over the records, identifying crucial details, documenting them, and drawing conclusions from them. When the researcher used secondary data gathered by others rather than conducting the actual field study, the data produced using this method was secondary data. The early childhood screening tests that the school gave to each child enrolled in the early childhood program served as the research's primary source of documentation.

The screening assessment tools offered by a business called FastBridge were the documents I used to analyze the data. FastBridge provided primary data sources that highlight the abilities and limitations of pupils. The classroom teachers now know more about each student in their class thanks to this new information. To ascertain whether children required early, focused interventions in particular areas, the data gathered was examined. With the data, the school determined which children might benefit from social and emotional support in the classroom and from counseling or a school psychologist. In math, I gathered information on number identification, quantity matches, and number sense. The following subtests in reading provided me with the information I needed: letter sounds, onset sounds, concepts of print, and letter names. Also, I had gathered information from recordings that I subsequently translated in order to acquire the details I needed for the research.

The following materials, which provided a firm foundation for each student's early childhood success in math, contributed to the study's data collection. Each child's capacity to identify the name of the symbol that accurately and suitably represents a specific number was evaluated as part of the Numeral Identification assessment. The capacity of the learner to correctly recognize the symbol or number that symbolizes a specific quantity was evaluated using the Match Quantity exam. The child's understanding of the mental number line was evaluated by the Number Sequence Test. Counting Sequence, Number After, Number Before, and Number Between were among the listed items.

The following reading materials helped the study collect data by giving a reliable foundation for each student's performance in early childhood. The Letter Sounds subtest was a timed evaluation that examined a student's aptitude and automaticity in recognizing the sounds for lowercase letters when they were isolated. In order to assess a child's phonemic awareness, the Onset Sounds subtest asked them to identify the first sound in an image of a word. To develop additional reading abilities, it was necessary to have a general understanding of how print was used for the Concepts of Print subtest. Children who had mastered them were able to carry out simple tasks, including correctly tracking print, orienting the page, and detecting the beginning and conclusion of phrases. The Letter Names subtest assesses children's accuracy and automaticity in accurately identifying upper-case and lower-case English letters separately. It measured Rapid Automated Naming (RAN) (Christ, 2018).

### Document Analysis Data Analysis Plan

Thematic content analysis was used to examine the data gathered through document analysis, much like it was done with the interview transcripts. I read and reread the information gathered using this strategy in an effort to spot a pattern. Next, when classifying and categorizing

77

them for later research, I made note of any developing trends. This approach was used by me because the analysis resulted in the collection of accurate data. I had created a checklist of the data I wanted to gather (Appendix F) to make sure I had gathered enough of it. The checklist was important since it helped resolve the research issues. By evaluating if the teachers were distinguished for each child presented in the classroom, the first research question on the checklist was resolved. Based on the teacher's interactions with each student, the second research question was resolved. The third study topic looked at the teacher's use of body language and facial expressions, a healthy work atmosphere, offering students choices in the classroom, and how peer interactions foster learning.

### Data Analysis Questions: Appendix F

### **Sub-Question One**

How do the Pre-K and Kindergarten teachers utilize the screening data to inform instruction?

- 1. The teacher differentiates in reading
- 2. The teacher differentiates in math
- 3. The teacher differentiates in social emotional

Comments:

### **Sub-Question Two**

How do Pre-K and Kindergarten teachers utilize screening data to build meaningful relationships that benefit the students?

- 1. The teacher speaks to the student by name
- 2. The teacher knows and uses student interests
- 3. The teacher knows the temperament of each student

4. The teacher gives meaningful feedback to the student

Comments:

### **Sub-Question Three**

How do Pre-K and Kindergarten teachers utilize screening data to improve the learning outcomes of their students by using social interactions?

- 1. The teacher makes learning fun
- 2. The teacher engages students
- 3. The teacher allows choice
- 4. The teacher utilizes peer partnerships

Comments:

### **Observations**

The process of observation was used to obtain data in both qualitative and quantitative ways. Direct data about an ongoing occurrence had been gathered by observation. In accordance with Paradis et al. (2019), the observation approach gathered data through observing the actions, events, and inherent features of phenomena. To form an opinion about a phenomenon during the research period, the researcher employs the observation method of data collection to count, listen, observe, read documents, or record behaviors, situations, or events. In order to collect data using this method, the researcher was one of the participants (Paradis et al., 2019). Observations were overt, where participants were aware that the researcher was present, or covert, where the observer was concealed and the participants were not aware they were being watched.

I was able to learn more about how research participants used the results of early childhood screenings to devise and carry out lesson plans in their classrooms by witnessing them in action. Before the data collection strategy was determined, each participating teacher was given the observation method that worked best for them and their students. Three sessions of 10-15 minutes each were used to watch each instructor, ensuring that all teachers had enough time for the observer to collect the necessary data. I observed in the classroom as an outsider at each observation.

### **Observation Form**

An observation form (Appendix E) was utilized when observations were conducted throughout the study.

Date:	Time:
Place:	Teacher:
Descriptive Notes:	Reflective Notes:

The observations for this study were openly conducted and coordinated with the teacher's class time. I watched in the classroom as the teacher differentiated instruction and offered focused interventions using the screening data (Appendix G). These insights helped educators better understand how to identify students' areas of strength and weakness, how differentiated and focused education benefits students, and how screening examinations are administered. I used a

checklist for checking off particular examples of differentiation in the materials presented in the classroom, the tasks carried out there, and the support given to the children.

## Differentiation Checklist: Appendix G

## **Differentiation by Resource:**

- 1. Variety of activities in the classroom
- 2. Use of technology
- 3. Organizational tools provided to store toys

### Comments:

# **Differentiation by Task:**

- 1. Variety of tasks is provided
- 2. Tasks relate to student abilities and interests
- 3. Choice in tasks is provided
- 4. Learning routines are being established

### Comments:

### **Differentiation by Support:**

- 1. Individual support is offered by the teacher
- 2. Support is offered by the teaching assistant
- 3. Group support is offered
- 4. Individual learning goals are provided for each student
- 5. Successes are celebrated

### Comments:

### **Observations Data Analysis Plan**

Thematic analysis was used to analyze the observed data. This method was chosen

because it was more accessible for analysis than other qualitative methods because it did not necessitate in-depth theoretical and technical understanding. Due to the few prescriptions and steps in this method, learning it was very simple and quick (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). I first read through the field data from the observation several times to become familiar with it before actively looking for patterns and significance. The initial codes were then created by concentrating on a few key data qualities and simplifying the rest of the data. I accomplished this by highlighting key passages in the text and adding labels to index them in relation to a subject. Then, using a few predefined codes to direct the study, the coded data was categorized into themes. The themes were then examined to see if they fit together in a logical way. The themes were then properly identified and examined to create the report.

### **Data Synthesis**

The complete body of data was synthesized using thematic synthesis to produce a single set of themes (Marshall, 2019). For all my interviews, I utilized a transcription program like Otter AI or Teams. Coding text, creating descriptive themes, and creating analytical themes were the three processes involved in this process. The three data-gathering methods' analysis findings were coded based on their content and meaning. Concepts from one study to another were translated by coding the analytic findings line by line. The already coded texts were checked to ensured consistency of interpretation and, if necessary, to add further coding levels (Rose & Johnson, 2020). The codes were compared and contrasted in order to organize them into a hierarchy. The meaning of the categories in the original codes was captured in new codes. This led to themes that were descriptive. The research questions were next addressed by developing analytical themes based on the descriptive themes.

### Trustworthiness

From the moment a study was first conceptualized, it was critical to establish its reliability. Only when sources are trustworthy can research be trusted. Reassurance that accurate sources were employed to gather accurate information was provided by trustworthiness. By using the Lincoln and Guba (1986) principles, which were based on four criteria: credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability this study proved trustworthiness.

### Credibility

When qualitative research provided an accurate account or appraisal of human experience that people with similar situations could immediately identify, it was considered credible (Rose & Johnson, 2020). One strategy I employed was member checking; by doing this, I gave each participant the chance to look over the data analysis and offer feedback on how I interpreted their responses. Member checking offered me the chance to look for data inconsistencies that might be objections to my assumptions as well as provide the teachers a chance to assess their data and make any necessary corrections. To assist in confirming and validating the transcript themes, I enlisted the aid of an objective party (interrater reliability) (Belur et al., 2021).

### Transferability

Transferability is the ability of research findings and methodologies to be applied to multiple contexts or people (Nassaji, 2020). It spoke to the ability of study findings to be applied later in the same context or in a different one. By providing in-depth descriptions of the biographical data I compiled from the participating teachers for my study, I hoped to achieve this goal. To provide a detailed picture of the participants in the study and the criteria used to select them, I gathered demographic data from the participating instructors.

### Dependability

Dependability showed that the results were logical and reproducible. That occurred when a different researcher adopted the researcher's course of action (McDonald et al., 2019). It provided reassurance to other researchers that all the raw data and statistics offered were trustworthy. By providing a thorough explanation of the research method and including my research supervisor and qualitative inquiry peers in the analytical process, this chapter established reliability. The inclusion of all participant data and consent documents made the study trustworthy.

### Confirmability

After reliability, transferability, and credibility are established, confirmability follows (Amin et al., 2020; McDonald et al., 2019). Given the subjective nature of qualitative research, I needed to vouch that the results of this study truly reflected what the participants had to say. I therefore reflected and was open-minded in order to become conscious of my own biases. I kept a notebook as I worked through the study and engaged in critical reflection while always keeping in mind my responsibility as a researcher.

### **Ethical Considerations**

The many research concepts helpful in directing research procedures and designs were depicted in the ethical consideration's component. Ethical considerations established a precise code of behavior to follow when gathering data from study participants. The rights of the participants, improving the validity of the research, and upholding the integrity of science were the three important considerations. The gathering of informed consent from participants and informed authority from pertinent authorities was the study's key priority (Newman et al., 2021). Also, I let everyone know that participation in the study was completely voluntary and that they

were free to leave at any time. I protected all information by using aliases and site usage. In addition, I made sure that the participation data, both physical and electronic, was adequately secured and stored. For a minimum of three years, I decided to study using password protected computers and lockable filing cabinets.

#### Summary

In-depth descriptions of the study's design, methods, and data analysis techniques are provided in this chapter. Given the nature of the research, an instrumental case study was deemed to be the most suitable design for this study. The study was conducted in a Saudi Arabian school system that used American textbooks. Participants included early childhood educators from this school district who worked with children between the ages of three and five. Three philosophic tenets ontological, epistemological, and axiological direct the study, which is based on the social constructivist paradigm. Also, the necessary authorities and participants granted permission for the study to be carried out by the researcher. A sample size of 12 to 15 respondents was their target. Data was gathered through observations, document analysis, and individual interviews. Thematic Content Analysis (TCA) and thematic synthesis were used to analyze the data collected using these methods and produce a single collection of themes. The validity of the study was also evaluated using the method proposed by Lincoln and Guba (1986).

# CHAPTER FOUR: FINDINGS Overview

This qualitative case study's objective was to investigate how instructors perceived the early childhood screening that was conducted on pupils at the XYZ School in Eastern Saudi Arabia. ECS broadly referred to the research as a test of cognitive and social-emotional abilities. The ECS used in this study was FastBridge. All the participants have completed mandatory training to take part in this study. This chapter includes participant descriptions, the data in the form of narrative themes, outlier data, and research question responses.

### **Participants**

The 12 participants of this study all have teaching credentials from the United States and have had numerous years of teaching experience. All the participants have taught 10 or more years. While not intended, all the participants are female. Ten out of the 12 participants teach Kindergarten while two out of the 12 participants teach preschool students. Twelve out of 12 participants have undergraduate degrees in education and 9 out of the 12 participants also hold master's degrees in educational areas.

# Table 1

# Teacher Participants

Teacher Participant	Years Taught	Highest Degree Earned	Content Area	Grade Level
Amy	22	Masters	Education	KG
Ashley	11	Masters	Curriculum Instruction	KG
Brenna	13	Masters	General Education/ Special Education	Pre-K
Charlotte	12	Masters	Education	KG
Darcy	14	Masters	Early Childhood Special Education	KG
Georgia	18	Masters	Education	KG
Hailey	10	Masters	Education	KG
Jasmine	34	Bachelor of Science	Elementary Education	KG
Kelly	22	Masters	English Language/ Diverse Learners	KG
Laura	28	Masters	Education	KG
Monica	17	Bachelor of Science	Education	KG
Nancy	12	Bachelor of Science	Elementary Education/ Special Education	Pre-K

## Results

The results from the research indicated several themes throughout the research. Each of the themes focused on were brought up during the interviews and observations by several of the participants. While the themes are brief each one is meaningful to the study. Throughout the research collection it was evident that the participants were passionate about the topic of early childhood screening.

## Table 2

### Themes

Major Themes	Participant Quotes
Theme 1:	"These teams consist of grade-level classroom teachers, student support teachers, and administration." Nancy
Informing Instructional Practices	"Meeting with my team helps me know what to do with kids who flag as at risk." Hailey
	"The data helps inform my instruction." Brenna
	"The screening data helps me understand why a student scored like they did. I am able to break down the data and look at their accuracy and fluency scores." Darcy
Theme 2:	"The data shows us who knows letters, sounds, rhyming, segmenting, which way a book is read, etc." Charlotte
Meeting Students on Their Level	"The best feature of early childhood screening is that it allows me to get instant insight into the child. I am then able to hit the ground running to target the instruction they need." Amy
	"The screening assessment helps me to get to know the children better. For those struggling, I am able to help build their confidence. My groupings become more fluid and purposeful." Darcy
Theme 3:	"ELL needs more time to adjust before being screened in the fall." Georgia

Vocabulary for English Language	"Many of my students begin preschool not speaking hardly any English. It takes time to build their vocabulary
Learners	before they are able to understand the directions on the
	early childhood screener." Nancy
	"FastBridge and screeners like it help me understand the limitations of all my students, especially the ELL
	population." Ashley
Theme 4:	"Training on the FastBridge screener is mandatory with
	optional trainings yearly to help us look at/comprehend the
Refreshing Teacher Knowledge	reports and the data they provide us." Hailey
	"We (the teachers) stay summent by taking professional
	"We (the teachers) stay current by taking professional developments such as LETRS and Heggerty to stay on top
	of what will best help our students thrive." Brenna
	or what will best help but students univer Dremiu
	"We have opportunities to refresh our learning through
	lunch and learns and other optional trainings." Darcy
Theme 5:	"Progress monitoring is a quick way to check in on
	students and adjust whatever is or is not working." Kelly
Continued Monitoring for	
Students at Risk	"We (the preschool) need progress monitoring more often.
	It is very important for our students." Brenna
	"I like to progress monitor students who do not receive
	student support services and target my instruction based
	on those results." Darcy

## Table 3

### Themes & Codes

Main Themes	Codes
Theme 1:	Routines, classroom management, flexibility in curriculum, differentiation, data meetings,
Informing Instructional Practices	team partnerships
Theme 2:	Differentiation, student engagement, student choice, whole group instruction, small group
Meeting Students on Their Level	instruction, one-on-one instruction, organizational tools, praise, pleasant environment, purposeful, community, scaffolding
Theme 3:	Repetition, choice, grow confidence, rhyming, blending, segmenting, scaffolding,
Vocabulary for English Language Learners	feedback, safe learning space
Theme 4:	Professional development, lunch and learns, trainings, FastBridge courses, LETERS,
Refreshing Teacher Knowledge	Heggerty
Theme 5:	Progress monitoring, school wide
Continued Monitoring for Students at Risk	implementation, screening 3 times per year, student support team

## **Informing Instructional Practices**

The first theme the researcher noticed when collecting data was that 12 out of 12 participants mentioned they meet in teams to discuss the early childhood screening data. Nancy shared, "These teams consist of grade-level classroom teachers, student support teachers, and administration." Hailey said, "Meeting with my team helps me know what to do with kids who flag as at risk." Data team meetings gather information collected from the early childhood screeners. The team then discusses this information to help identify what individual students

need. Brenna shared, "The data helps inform my instruction." Throughout the observations, all 12 participants agreed that the screening results helped inform next steps for their instruction.

Once the team has looked at the screening data, it is evident that it guides how the participants teach in their individual classrooms. Darcy commented, "The screening data helps me understand why a student scored like they did. I am able to break down the data and look at their accuracy and fluency scores." Most participants incorporated whole group instruction, small group instruction, and one-on-one instruction throughout my observations. During the observations, I watched multiple teachers work with groups or individuals on letter sounds, rhyming, blending, and segmenting. These skills are routinely practiced based on the data from the screeners indicating a student's need in these areas. I also observed whole group math lessons, writing lessons, and how the children break up into small groups for choice time. All 12 participants often gave verbal feedback by making alternate suggestions or corrections to errors. All participants also used verbal praise as a way of acknowledging the hard work the students were putting in.

#### **Meeting Students on Their Level**

The data team meetings allow the participants the place to gather and decipher exactly which areas particular students need targeted instruction in. Charlotte said, "The data shows us who knows letters, sounds, rhyming, segmenting, which way a book is read, etc." This information gives the participants a starting point on how to group students and what areas to focus on. Throughout the observations 10 out of 12 participants were observed meeting with students in small groups with specific targeted instruction that varied from group to group. The other two participants were leading engaging whole group activities.

In order to meet students on their level, it is important that the teachers understand what areas of the early childhood screener that the students struggle with. Amy said, "The best feature of early childhood screening is that it allows me to get instant insight into the child. I am then able to hit the ground running to target the instruction they need." By sifting through the data, teachers were able to pinpoint what skills they need to target for whole group vs small group instruction. In doing this, it is important to remember the social-emotional aspect of the screening process. Darcy shared, "The screening assessment helps me to get to know the children better. For those struggling, I am able to help build their confidence. My groupings become more fluid and purposeful." I observed all participants teaching on the students' eye level while using calm and soothing or excited/happy tones of voice to help convey the lessons being taught in a way the students could relate to and get excited about. At one point, I observed Jasmine leading a whole group mindfulness activity, including kids' yoga and relaxation breathing, to calm them before heading into a math lesson.

#### **Vocabulary for English Language Learners**

Half of the participants in the study brought up language as an obstacle while administering the early childhood screeners. This information is beneficial to understanding why some students achieve lower on the screeners than expected. Georgia suggested, "ELL needs more time to adjust before being screened in the fall." English language learners, in general, but especially young students, have not yet acquired the formal vocabulary that is often presented in screening assessments. Without adequate knowledge of English vocabulary, students are not equipped to understand the directions of the screener. Nancy shared, "Many of my students begin preschool not speaking hardly any English. It takes time to build their vocabulary before they are able to understand the directions on the early childhood screener." Throughout my observations, I noticed a large population of preschool and kindergarten students were English Language Learners. Most of the children were not native English speakers and were still working on gathering the vocabulary to express their knowledge. Ashley shared, "FastBridge and screeners like it help me understand the limitations of all my students, especially the ELL population." All 12 participants offered choices in the classroom to help build beneficial connections with the students. The choices helped the students demonstrate their knowledge in many forms, and it was evident that they knew the class expectations and routines.

### **Refreshing Teacher Knowledge**

A common theme throughout the research was the professional development taken in order to become certified to administer early childhood screeners. All 12 participating teachers were required to complete trainings on the specific subtests they administer in their classrooms. Hailey mentioned, "Training on the FastBridge screener is mandatory with optional trainings yearly to help us look at/comprehend the reports and the data they provide us." Brenna also shared, "We (the teachers) stay current by taking professional developments such as LETRS and Heggerty to stay on top of what will best help our students thrive."

All participants and their fellow teachers are offered refresher courses yearly, if not more often. These courses are offered by trained personnel from the student support team in each school across the district. These refresher courses allow hands-on practice through demo accounts as well as how to interpret the data that is collected. Darcy shared, "We have opportunities to refresh our learning through lunch and learns and other optional trainings."

#### **Continued Monitoring for Students at Risk**

Another theme found throughout the research was the use of progress monitoring of the students flagged as at risk on the screeners. Eight out of 12 participants mentioned progress

monitoring during their interviews. Progress monitoring allows the teachers to monitor the growth of students receiving targeted interventions. Kelly shared, "Progress monitoring is a quick way to check in on students and adjust whatever is or is not working." Brenna mentioned, "We (the preschool) need progress monitoring more often. It is very important for our students."

Some teachers use progress monitoring not only for their tier 2 or tier 3 students but as a way of keeping track of how those at low risk are progressing too. Darcy shared, "I like to progress monitor students who do not receive student support services and target my instruction based on those results." By utilizing the progress monitoring tools that align with the ECS, the teachers and administrators are able to see how everyone is progressing and make changes quickly for those that need them.

### **Outlier Data and Findings**

Throughout the research process, outliers became apparent in the data collection phase. The following outliers were mentioned occasionally throughout the interview process. While they were not frequently mentioned, they were good points made by the participants and should be considered further in the future.

#### *Outlier Finding #1*

One finding brought to my attention during the interview process was of concern that parents do not understand what early childhood screeners are. Unfortunately, some parents believe their children take an intelligence test or view the screening data as a threat. Jasmine shared, "Parents who receive the screening data often feel anxiety. They need to understand this is just a baseline of where we will go next." She suggested that there be a way to teach parents about screeners. In the future, I recommend a parent information session and a letter home might be a good start in educating parents. By educating the parents they will gain more insight into what ECS are, why they are useful, and how teachers use the data to support their children.

### **Outlier Finding #2**

Throughout the interview process, I heard from a few participants that they were concerned with the student's ability to identify letter names properly. It was pointed out that the curriculum in this particular school district teaches only capital letters in preschool, while the ECS tests the knowledge of both capital and lowercase letter names. Hailey commented, "In preschool, the students are only taught to recognize capital letters; when they enter kindergarten, most of the students are not able to recognize the lowercase letters on the screener." The participants viewed this as unfair to the students. I would recommend to the screeners that they speak to the head of their curriculum department and ask for help rectifying this issue. A change in curriculum that allows lowercase letters to be taught alongside uppercase letters is one way to solve this problem. Another would be to look at alternate screeners available that only focus on uppercase letters. A third recommendation would be to the teachers to dig deeper into the data and focus on subtests the students are familiar with and only look at the capital letter recognition in the fall screening window and look at upper and lowercase letters in the winter and spring after they have been taught.

#### **Research Question Responses**

Throughout the research process, the focus came back to the research questions posed in chapter 1. The following research questions were considered as the participants were interviewed, observed, and data collected from FastBridge screeners. The questions served as a guide of what to look for and how to navigate through the data collection process.

### **Central Research Question**

95

What are the childhood educators' experiences with the mandated screening tests that are used in Pre-K and Kindergarten? The participants' perspective is that working with Early Childhood Screening tools can be both insightful and frustrating at the same time. Screening children in these young grade levels presents its own challenges, such as ELL, capital letter recognition vs lower case letter recognition, and time constraints. But as the students grow, the data becomes extremely valuable to the teachers. Kelly said, "It is cool to see the growth even when students don't always reach the benchmark."

#### **Sub-Question One**

How do the teachers of Pre-K and Kindergarten use the screening data to guide their instruction? The participants meet with data teams to discuss all student screening data. The main focus is on students who are of concern and how to target instruction best to help bring them up to grade level. The participants also acknowledged that over time they begin discussing students that have excelled on the screening assessments and what steps to take to enhance their learning. Kelly also mentioned, "First, we decide is this a whole group, small group, or individual need? Then, we look at the activities and decide what areas to give exposure to or where we should begin our focus."

#### **Sub-Question Two**

How do Pre-K and Kindergarten instructors make use of screening data to establish beneficial connections with their students? The participants shared that they use ECS to bond with students on a one-on-one basis, where personalities are able to shine through. The ECS provides data that enables the participants to build connections with their students by noticing what areas a particular student is behind grade level or excels in. Collecting the data allowed the participants' insight into how to group students most effectively to benefit each child. Monica said, "When you have small group instruction, you naturally bond with the students based on their needs, and individual attention is easier to give."

#### **Sub-Question Three**

How do Pre-K and Kindergarten instructors use screening data to enhance their children's social-emotional learning outcomes? The participants expressed that ECS data allowed them to group students appropriately. Some groups might be based on ability, while other groups might pair students based on one higher student with one lower student. Each grouping scenario is based off of the data and what will best fit their social-emotional needs while working on targeted academic instruction. Ashley quipped, "The screening data tells me the areas of strength and weakness. It solidifies what needs to be taught, what has already been mastered, and how they feel about learning."

#### Summary

This chapter is a review of the most common themes found among the participants of this study. A key takeaway is that data teams are a huge part of early childhood screening. These teams allow the participants the advantage of having multiple sets of eyes on student data. By having an entire team analyze data, the participants can feel more confident in what the best next step is for each student.

Next, English Language Learners may not always understand the vocabulary used in screening tests. Screening results may not always be accurate if the student misunderstands the directions. At the same time, the data can give many teachers accurate data on where their ELL needs to begin working with the English language.

Lastly, professional development and progress monitoring also play important roles in screening. By being educated in the area of screening, the participants can be sure of the fidelity

of their results. By progress monitoring students at risk, the participants can monitor growth and change interventions according to what the data shares.

### **CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION**

#### Overview

The previous chapter was a thorough discussion of the teachers' perceptions of early childhood screening, citing what should be understood regarding the concept. This qualitative case study's objective was to investigate how instructors perceived the early childhood screening that was conducted on pupils at the XYZ School in Eastern Saudi Arabia. ECS broadly referred to the research as a test of cognitive and social-emotional abilities. The study aimed to comprehend how early childhood screening will facilitate comprehension of the educational challenges experienced by young learners. The data from the screening process informed the teachers and facilitates the teaching and learning techniques adopted depending on a student's learning ability. In this chapter, the interpretation of findings, implications of policies, theoretical and methodological implications, limitations and delimitations, and future research are some of the concepts that will be thoroughly discussed.

#### Discussion

Throughout the next section, the interpretation of findings, implications for policy, theoretical and empirical implications, limitations and delimitations, and recommendations for future research will provide further information on the study. These topics delve deeper into how the research ties into the topic of how teachers perceive early childhood screenings. By sifting through the accumulated findings from the data, we are able to understand the next steps for continued research.

#### **Interpretation of Findings**

Meeting students on their level, providing appropriate vocabulary for English language learners, and continued monitoring for at-risk students are some of the thematic findings highlighted in Chapter four (Ahn et al., 2018). These findings are deemed significant due to the impact they had on the research. The thematic findings are consolidated from the research collected in XYZ School District in Saudi Arabia.

### Summary of the Thematic Findings

It is important for teachers to utilize early childhood screening data to help them make informed decisions on how to best target instruction for individuals. It is also important to take into consideration a child's experiences with the English language and recognize those who speak multiple languages when reviewing their data. Additionally, progress monitoring students who have been identified as at risk is key to providing the right intervention to an individual.

**Meeting Students on Their Level.** Early childhood screening analyzes some of the students' struggles and ensures that the teaching instructional techniques adopted are specifically to meet students at their levels. Meeting students at their level means the educators will formally develop sub-groups among the learners according to the identified level (Akin & Raford, 2018). Each learning concept will be according to the student level identified. The main objective is to ensure that no student is sidelined because of the learning difficulties identified from the screening process. Meeting students at their level means that the teaching can be done through tonal variation where the young children can understand what the teacher is discussing in the lesson.

**Providing Appropriate Vocabulary of English Learners.** From chapter four, the thematic finding recognizes that some of the young students are English language learners and can experience difficulties understanding all the concepts taught by the educators. From the findings, ELLs have a limited English vocabulary which is part of the learning difficulties experienced within the classroom (Akpan & Beard, 2016). Teachers should acknowledge that

most young individuals are English learners, and using complex vocabulary while teaching various subjects will be quite challenging. Therefore, early childhood screening helps educators acknowledge the ELLs and develop a teaching strategy that will favor how they comprehend the taught aspects.

Monitoring for Students at Risk. From Chapter Four, early student screening helps recognize those young learners that experience difficulties and are classified as 'students at risk.' The main objective is to ensure they are given more attention because of the different supposed risks they face in their studies (Alatalo & Westlund, 2019). Therefore, the progress can be determined by their classroom performance and constant monitoring to ensure that positive changes are made.

### **Implications for Policy and Practice**

The following section will discuss the implications for policy and implications for practice as found in the research. The specific recommendations for various stakeholders, such as policymakers, administrators, and teachers, will make a difference in future research. These recommendations are also best for the students and their families going through the screening process.

#### Implications for Policy

The learning institution administrators should develop policies that govern the incorporation of ECS as part of the curriculum. The administrators that preside over the financial support should be required to obtain ECS funds for screening resources. Furthermore, part of the policy should include adequate teacher training on how to conduct early education screening. The policy should ensure that the teachers examine the early childhood learners for educational-related difficulties before developing a teaching plan and selecting subsequent teaching strategies

(Alqhatani, 2022). These policies should take place at a state level and eventually at a federal level.

#### **Implications for Practice**

A recommendation for future practice is ensuring that parents become involved in the ECS. Children should only take ECS tests after the required consent is obtained by the parents or guardians responsible for them. Providing parents with ECS education seminars could also be a great practice at the school level. Another reasonable implication of this study is that each school may make requirements for ECS to be used at their site until policy is passed down to them. By implementing mandatory ECS, administrators are allowing their teachers to gain insight into what each student needs from them, both academically and socially or emotionally.

### **Theoretical and Empirical Implications**

The research further expands the thematic findings by summarizing the concepts to support further understanding for the reader. For instance, the research further emphasizes the teacher's perception of why all early childhood learners should be placed under early childhood screening to ensure a teaching mechanism is constructed depending on each child's need (Accardo et al., 2019). The study does not diverge from the previous research but ensures that it emphasizes the previous discussion concept. The main novel contribution incorporated in the field is comprehending how early childhood screening influences educational perception. The education field is broad, and introducing concepts like ECS ensures that essential improvements have been made for the learners to acquire quality education from their educators. ECS plays a huge role in ensuring that the learning difficulties that might hinder a child's progress are identified and eliminated to improve their performance.

The study also confirms and corroborates the previous research by emphasizing the significance of early childhood screeners and the possible benefits that will be obtained (Bakken et al., 2017). For instance, this study discusses early childhood screening and how it can help in the early identification of learning difficulties in young learners. The study extends the previous research by incorporating relevant examples that emphasize the research's significance in informing the importance of childhood screening (Baskarada & Koronios, 2018). The novel contribution incorporated into the research solves the highlighted challenge. For instance, part of the highlighted challenge is the doubt surrounding early childhood screening and how most teachers may be skeptical about the process (Balkis et al., 2012). The research's novel contribution emphasizes the significance of screening and how educators and young learners will significantly benefit through the process. One such example is how the findings support ECS provides the teachers with pertinent information to help them target their instruction from day one after reviewing the results of the screening data. In this case, the participants reviewed the FastBridge data and immediately made groupings according to what students results showed they need help with. One interesting aspect of the method used in the research that the reader should know is that it is quite extensive, especially in retrieving data (Ahn et al., 2018). The entire research contains essential data that the reader needs to understand about ECS and its impacts on a teacher's perception. For instance, the research incorporates rich information on early childhood screening, such as the benefits of providing targeted interventions at an early age. Therefore, the audience will be well-informed about the concept, and it will be incorporated as part of future research (Belur et al., 2021). The design and method should be incorporated as part of future research in the field. It provides the researcher with different methodologies to incorporate when completing the study. The research diverts from the extant theory by

discussing how early childhood screening could cause a shift in the education sector (Bilmans & Schakel, 2018). The extant theory expounds on a continuous existence of a concept. ESC is an existing concept in the education sector, and it is essential, especially in helping educators formulate ways to improve performance.

The qualitative design is recommended for future research on concepts that will further expound on the ECS concept. Several theoretical frameworks have been incorporated in the studies supposedly explaining early childhood screening. However, the researcher is open to the possibility that not all of the methodologies used are accurate, and some of the findings might be misleading to the audience.

### **Limitations and Delimitations**

Limitations can be defined as weaknesses found within research during a study. These weaknesses have the potential to influence the results of the study. Some of the weaknesses identified from the research follow. The first limitation in the study was the limited number of participants willing to volunteer for the research. It would be beneficial to future research to have a greater number of participants involved in the study. The research concentrated on early childhood professionals, and gathering massive data from the limited population was difficult. However, the small number of teachers who consented to participate in the research played a huge role in ensuring that enough data was collected. A second weakness was the location of the schools involved in the study was one hour, two hours, and three and a half hours away from each other. Another limitation of the research was some of the teachers were skeptical about early screening tests because it is a newer concept for them. In the future, it would be beneficial to ensure all

participants, including parents, have a deep understanding of what early childhood screeners are and how they are used.

Several purposeful delimitations were considered while working on the project. The delimitations ensured that the researcher met certain criteria and maintained ethical boundaries while collecting participant data. For instance, all the young learners took a screening test after gaining consent from the school district's superintendent (Alatalo & Westlund, 2016). The research participants all met the criteria of having taught for five or more years and holding North American education teaching credentials. The researcher selected a case study approach and applied it in the research process. The case study approach is especially beneficial in comprehending the young learners' educational experiences, including the teacher's perspectives on educational screening. Using the case study approach guided the researcher to engage in an in-depth study. The rationale behind the study is that the researcher aims to ensure that all essential aspects have been included in understanding how teachers perceive early screening.

### **Recommendations for Future Research**

The study exhausted all the teacher's perceptions of the influence of early childhood screening. The researcher explained some of the results of the early childhood screening and the possible influences they could have on young learners. From all the findings in every chapter, one subject for future research that should be studied is the parent's perceptions of early childhood screening (Alqahtani, 2022). Few parents have information about early childhood screening on their children; thus, they are hesitant to give consent for their children to participate in research activities. Therefore, future research should concentrate on how the parents' perspectives on early childhood screening improve the efforts dedicated to their children's education. A qualitative research design should be used in future research to ensure that parents

105

are interviewed and their concerns about early childhood screening are addressed. Understanding early childhood screening and how the results play a huge role in improving the learner's outcomes will influence how parents participate in their student's education.

Another possible subject for future research could be the use of mixed uppercase and lowercase letters in administering early childhood screening. Future research could investigate why mixed letters are used when only capital letters have been taught in preschool. Perhaps this is a local problem, and the curriculum might need to be altered to teach the foundations of literacy to better align with how screeners are assessing our students. Understanding why ECS uses mixed uppercase and lowercase might help educators better inform their instruction.

### Conclusion

This qualitative case study investigated how teachers perceive their interactions with the ECS for students at the XYZ School in Eastern Saudi Arabia. By examining teachers' opinions on how ECS affected children's development and the activities they were given, the study empirically contributed to the body of knowledge. The research emphasizes that early childhood education seems crucial for maintaining children's cognitive development. The best way to succeed in early childhood education is through normalizing ESC before a child is signed up for the studies. That is an excellent technique to ensure that the teacher makes enough preparation with the data collected from the screening. Furthermore, that is the best way to ensure children are educated on their identified levels. Ideally, the research shows a teacher's dedication to using the early childhood screeners to improve the students' classroom growth and development.

#### References

- Accardo, A. L., Kuder, S. J., & Woodruff, J. (2019). Accommodations and support services preferred by college students with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism*, 23(3), 574-583.
- Ahn, I., Kim, B., You, K., & Bae, M. (2018). A study on the characteristics of an EEG based on a singing bowl's sound frequency. *Software Engineering Research, Management and Applications*, 233-243. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-98881-8\_16
- Akin, I., & Raford, L. (2018). Exploring the development of student self-esteem and resilience in urban schools. *Contemporary Issues in Education Research (CIER)*, 11(1), 17-24. <u>https://doi.org/10.19030/cier.v11i1.10118</u>
- Akpan, J. P., & Beard, L. A. (2016). Using constructivist teaching strategies to enhance academic outcomes of students with special needs. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 4(2), 392-398. <u>https://doi.org/10.13189/ujer.2016.040211</u>
- Al-Ababneh, M. M. (2020). Linking ontology, epistemology, and research methodology. *Science*& *Philosophy*, 8(1), 75-91. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=3708935
- Alatalo, T., & Westlund, B. (2019). Preschool teachers' perceptions about read-alouds as a means to support children's early literacy and language development. *Journal of Early Childhood Literacy*, 21(3), 413-435. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468798419852136
- Alqahtani, K. S. (2022). How theories of learning inform the use of technology to improve student learning. *Journal of University Studies for inclusive Research*, *5*(3), 3006-3026.
- American Academy of Pediatrics. (2006). Identifying infants and young children with developmental disorders in the medical home: An algorithm for developmental surveillance and screening. *Pediatrics*, *118*(1), 405-420.

- Ames, H., Glenton, C., & Lewin, S. (2019). Purposive sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example from a synthesis on parental perceptions of vaccination communication. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *19*(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0665-4
- Amin, M. E. K., Nørgaard, L. S., Cavaco, A. M., Witry, M. J., Hillman, L., Cernasev, A., & Desselle, S. P. (2020). Establishing trustworthiness and authenticity in qualitative pharmacy research. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, *16*(10), 1472-1482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sapharm.2020.02.005
- Ancheta, R. F., Daniel, D., & Ahmad, R. (2021). Effect of class attendance on academic performance. *European Journal of Education Studies*, 8(9). https://doi.org/10.46827/ejes.v8i9.3887
- Ansari, A. (2018). The persistence of preschool effects from early childhood through adolescence. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *110*(7), 952.
- Ansari, A., Pianta, R. C., Whittaker, J. V., Vitiello, V. E., & Ruzek, E. A. (2019). Starting early: The benefits of attending early childhood education programs at age 3. *American Educational Research Journal*, 56(4), 1495-1523.

https://doi.org/10.3102%2F0002831218817737

- Bakken, L., Brown, N., & Downing, B. (2017). Early childhood education: The long-term benefits. *Journal of research in Childhood Education*, *31*(2), 255-269.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2016.1273285">https://doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2016.1273285</a>
- Baškarada, S., & Koronios, A. (2018). A philosophical discussion of qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods research in social science. *Qualitative Research Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-D-17-00042

- Balkis, M., Duru, E., & Bulus, M. (2012). Analysis of the relation between academic procrastination, academic rational/irrational beliefs, time preferences to study for exams, and academic achievement: A structural model. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 28(3), 825-839. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10212-012-0142-5
- Barrish, H. H., Saunders, M., & Wolf, M. M. (1969). Good behavior game: Effects of individual contingencies for group consequences on disruptive behavior in a classroom<sup>1</sup>. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 2(2), 119-124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1901/jaba.1969.2-119</u>
- Belur, J., Tompson, L., Thornton, A., & Simon, M. (2021). Interrater reliability in systematic review methodology: exploring variation in coder decision-making. *Sociological Methods & Research*, *50*(2), 837-865. https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124118799372
- Bijsmans, P., & Schakel, A. H. (2018). The impact of attendance on first-year study success in problem-based learning. *Higher Education*, 76(5), 865-881.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-018-0243-4

- Binns, A. V., Hutchinson, L. R., & Cardy, J. O. (2021). The speech-language pathologist's role in supporting the development of self-regulation: A review and tutorial. *Journal of Communication Disorders*, 78, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcomdis.2018.12.005
- Boan, C. H., Aydlett, L., & Multunas, N. (2015). Early childhood screening and readiness assessment. *Psychoeducational Assessment of Preschool Children*, 49-68. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315089362-4</u>
- Booj, L., & Nicolosi, M. (2021). Early childhood care, support and research: how early screening and longitudinal studies can help children thrive. *Jornal de Pediatria*, 97, 579-581.
- Brandes-Aitken, A., Braren, S., Swingler, M., Voegtline, K., & Blair, C. (2019). Sustained attention in infancy: A foundation for the development of multiple aspects of self-

regulation for children in poverty. *Journal of experimental child psychology*, *184*, 192-209. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6528818/

- Bryant, C., & VanGraafeiland, B. (2020). Screening for adverse childhood experiences in primary care: a quality improvement project. *Journal of Pediatric Health Care*, 34(2), 122-127.
- Broodie, K. D., David, A. P., & Chan, D. K. (2022). The Early-Childhood Hearing Screening Program in a Low-Income Setting—Reply. JAMA Otolaryngology–Head & Neck Surgery, 148(11), 1080-1081. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoto.2022.2700
- Bubikova-Moan, J., Næss Hjetland, H., & Wollscheid, S. (2019). ECE Teachers' views on playbased learning: A systematic review. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 27(6), 776-800. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1350293X.2019.1678717</u>
- Bufferd, S. J., Dougherty, L. R., Carlson, G. A., Rose, S., & Klein, D. N. (2012). Psychiatric disorders in preschoolers: Continuity from ages 3 to 6. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 169(11), 1157-1164.
- Burchinal, M., Vernon-Feagans, L., Vitiello, V., Greenberg, M., & Family Life Project Key Investigators. (2014). Thresholds in the association between child care quality and child outcomes in rural preschool children. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 29(1), 41-51.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2013.09.004">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2013.09.004</a>
- Busetto, L., Wick, W., & Gumbinger, C. (2020). How to use and assess qualitative research methods. *Neurological Research and Practice*, *2*, 14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s42466-</u> 020-00059-z
- Campbell, T. L. (2020). Screening for adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) in primary care: a cautionary note. *Jama*, *323*(23), 2379-2380.

- Carr, R. C., Peisner-Feinberg, E. S., Kaplan, R., & Mokrova, I. L. (2021). Effects of North Carolina's pre-kindergarten program at the end of kindergarten: Contributions of schoolwide quality. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 76, 101317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2021.101317
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds?. *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, *10*(6), 807-815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019
- Chanen, A., Yung, A., Killackey, E., Hickie, I., Coghill, D., Scott, J. G., ... & McGorry, P. (2020). The value of early intervention in creating the new mental health system:
  Response to Allison et al. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 54(7), 667-669.
- Chen, J., Jiang, H., Justice, L. M., Lin, T. J., Purtell, K. M., & Ansari, A. (2020). Influences of Teacher-Child Relationships and Classroom Social Management on Child-Perceived Peer Social Experiences during Early School Years. *Frontiers in psychology*, *11*, 2746. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.586991
- Cole, P. M., Ram, N., & English, M. S. (2019). Toward a unifying model of self-regulation: A developmental approach. *Child development perspectives*, 13(2), 91-96. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6754105/</u>
- Correia-Zanini, M. R. G., & Marturano, E. M. (2016). Getting started in elementary school: Cognitive competence, social skills, behavior, and stress. *PsicoUSF*, 21(2), 305-317. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1413-82712016210208</u>
- Correia-Zanini, M. R. G., Marturano, E. M., & Fontaine, A. M. G. V. (2018). Effects of early childhood education attendance on achievement, social skills, behavior, and stress.

*Estudos de Psicologia* (Campinas), *35*, 287-297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/1982-</u> 02752018000300007

- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*. Sage publications.
- Demirtaș-Zorbaz, S., & Ergene, T. (2019). School adjustment of first-grade primary school students: Effects of family involvement, externalizing behavior, teacher and peer relations. *Children and youth services review*, *101*, 307–316.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.04.019

- Douglass, A. L. (2019). Leadership for quality early childhood education and care. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/education/leadership-for-quality-early-childhoodeducation-and-care\_6e563bae-en
- Duke, N. N. (2020). Adolescent adversity, school attendance, and academic achievement: School connection and the potential for mitigating risk. *Journal of school health*, 90(8), 618-629. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12910</u>
- Eggers, J. H., Oostdam, R., & Voogt, J. (2021). Self-regulation strategies in blended learning environments in higher education: A systematic review. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 175-192. https://ajet.org.au/index.php/AJET/article/view/6453
- English, L. K., Obbagy, J. E., Wong, Y. P., Butte, N. F., Dewey, K. G., Fox, M. K., ... & Stoody, E. E. (2019). Complementary feeding and developmental milestones: a systematic review. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, *109*(Supplement\_1), 879S-889S. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/nqy321</u>
- Erkin, J. (2018). Understanding self-regulation in education. *BU Journal of Graduate Studies in Education*, *10*(1), 35-39. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1230272</u>

- Faith, L., Hohnen, B., Bagnall, V., & Moore-Shelley, I. (2020). Using an executive function– focused approach to build self-regulation, metacognition and motivation in all learners. *The 'BrainCanDo' Handbook of Teaching and Learning*, 133-160. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429197741-7
- Farrington, C. A., Roderick, M., Allensworth, E., Nagaoka, J., Keyes, T. S., Johnson, D. W., & Beechum, N. O. (2012). *Teaching Adolescents to Become Learners: The Role of Noncognitive Factors in Shaping School Performance: A Critical Literature Review*.
  Consortium on Chicago School Research, 1313 East 60th Street, Chicago, IL 60637.
- Flower, K. B., Massie, S., Janies, K., Bassewitz, J. B., Coker, T. R., Gillespie, R. J., & Earls, M.
  F. (2020). Increasing early childhood screening in primary care through a quality improvement collaborative. *Pediatrics*, *146*(3).
- French, L., & Kennedy, E. M. (2018). Annual research review: Early intervention for infants and young children with, or at-risk of, autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review. *Journal of Child Psychology and psychiatry*, 59(4), 444-456.
- Fuhrmann, P., Equit, M., Schmidt, K., & von Gontard, A. (2014). Prevalence of depressive symptoms and associated developmental disorders in preschool children: A populationbased study. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, 23(4), 219-224.
- Garner, J. K., & Kaplan, A. (2019). A complex dynamic systems perspective on teacher learning and identity formation: an instrumental case. *Teachers and Teaching*, 25(1), 7-33. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2018.1533811
- García, J. L., Heckman, J. J., Leaf, D. E., & Prados, M. J. (2020). Quantifying the life-cycle benefits of an influential early-childhood program. *Journal of Political Economy*, 128(7), 2502-2541.

- Gauvian, M., & Richert, R. (2016). Cognitive development. *Encyclopedia of Mental Health*, 317-323. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-397045-9.00059-8</u>
- Geeraerts, S. B., Backer, P. M., & Stifter, C. A. (2020). It takes two: Infants' moderate negative reactivity and maternal sensitivity predict self-regulation in the preschool years. *Developmental Psychology*, 56(5), 869. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32191053/</u>
- Germine, L. T., Duchaine, B., & Nakayama, K. (2011). Where cognitive development and aging meet: Face learning ability peaks after age 30. *Cognition*, *118*(2), 201-

210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2010.11.002

- Grundmann, M. (2018). Social constructions through socialization: The perspective of a constructivist socialization research. In *Social Constructivism as Paradigm?* (pp. 91-104). Routledge.
- Gupta, M. G. (2020). Benefits of early childhood education. *Supporting Teaching Learning at School*, *1*(1), 147.
- Hancock, D. R., Algozzine, B., & Lim, J. H. (2021). *Doing case study research: A practical guide for beginning researchers* (4<sup>th</sup> ed.).
- Heckman, J. J., García, J. L., Bennhoff, F., & Ermini Leaf, D. (2021). The dynastic benefits of early childhood education. University of Chicago, Becker Friedman Institute for Economics Working Paper, (2021-77).
- Hedges, H., & Cooper, M. (2018). Relational play-based pedagogy: Theorising a core practice in early childhood education. *Teachers and Teaching*, 24(4), 369-383. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2018.1430564
- Hinduja, P. (2021). From behaviorism to constructivism in teaching-learning process. Journal of Education & Social Sciences, 9 (2), 111-122. https://doi.org/ 10.20547/jess0922109204

- Hirai, A. H., Kogan, M. D., Kandasamy, V., Reuland, C., & Bethell, C. (2018). Prevalence and variation of developmental screening and surveillance in early childhood. *JAMA pediatrics*, 172(9), 857-866. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.1524
- Holman, B., & Wilholt, T. (2022). The new demarcation problem. *Studies in History and Philosophy of Science*, *91*, 211-220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.shpsa.2021.11.011
- Hosan, N. E., & Hoglund, W. (2017). Do Teacher-Child Relationship and Friendship Quality Matter for Children's School Engagement and Academic Skills?. *School Psychology Review*, 46(2), 201-218. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17105/SPR-2017-0043.V46-2</u>
- Howard, S. J., & Vasseleu, E. (2020). Self-regulation and executive function longitudinally predict advanced learning in preschool. *Frontiers in psychology*, *11*, 49. <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00049/full</u>
- Hoyne, C., & Egan, S. M. (2019). Shared book reading in early childhood: A review of influential factors and developmental benefits. *An Leanbh Og*, *12*(1), 77-92.
- Jamison, S. (2018). Educational and health benefits of early childhood education interventions for low-income children: A systematic review. https://doi.org/10.17615/yaj5-zp31
- Jeon, L., Buettner, C. K., Grant, A. A., & Lang, S. N. (2019). Early childhood teachers' stress and children's social, emotional, and behavioral functioning. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 61, 21-32.

Johnson, A. D., Finch, J. E., & Phillips, D. A. (2019). Associations between publicly funded preschool and low-income children's kindergarten readiness: The moderating role of child temperament. *Developmental Psychology*, 55, 623–636. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000651 Jung, H. (2019). The evolution of social constructivism in political science: Past to present. *SAGE Open*, *9*(1), 2158244019832703.

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/2158244019832703

- Kahraman, P. B., & Apak, Y. M. (2021). Preschool teacher opinions on adaptation to school during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Online Journal of Primary Education*, 10(2), 432-455. <u>https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0551-7741</u>
- Kaufman, J., Ryan, R., Walsh, L., Horey, D., Leask, J., Robinson, P., & Hill, S. (2018). Face-to-face interventions for informing or educating parents about early childhood vaccination.
   *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (5).

https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD010038.pub3/abstract

Kelly, L. E. (2019). Adapted physical education national standards. Human Kinetics Publishers.

- Kelly, M., Dowling, M., & Millar, M. (2018). The search for understanding: The role of paradigms. *Nurse Researcher*, 25(4), 9-13. <u>https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.2018.e1499</u>
- Kestenberg, Ryan, R., Walsh, L., Horey, D., Leask, J., Robinson, P., & Hill, S. (2018). Face-toface interventions for informing or educating parents about early childhood vaccination. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, (5).

https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD010038.pub3/abstract

- Kim, J. H., Schulz, W., Zimmermann, T., & Hahweg, K. (2018). Parent-child interactions and child outcomes: Evidence from randomized intervention. *Labour Economics*, 54, 152-171. https://doi-org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1016/j.labeco.2018.08.003
- Kirksey, J. J. (2019). Academic harms of missing high school and the accuracy of current policy thresholds: Analysis of preregistered administrative data from a California school district. *AERA Open*, *5*(3), 2332858419867692. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177%2F2332858419867692</u>

- Lehrl, S., Kluczniok, K., & Rossbach, H. G. (2016). Longer-term associations of preschool education: The predictive role of preschool quality in developing mathematical skills through elementary school. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *36*, 475-488. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresg.2016.01.013
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1986). But is it rigorous? Trustworthiness and authenticity in naturalistic evaluation. *New Directions for Program Evaluation*, 1986(30), 73-84. https://doi.org/10.1002/ev.1427
- Lipkin, P. H., Macias, M. M., Norwood, K. W., Brei, T. J., Davidson, L. F., Davis, B. E., ... & Voigt, R. G. (2020). Promoting optimal development: identifying infants and young children with developmental disorders through developmental surveillance and screening. *Pediatrics*, 145(1).. <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-3449</u>
- Lipkin, P. H., Macias, M. M., Norwood, K. W., Brei, T. J., Davidson, L. F., Davis, B. E., . . & Voigt, R. G. (2019). Promoting optimal development: Identifying infants and young children with developmental disorders through developmental surveillance and screening. *Pediatrics*, 145(1). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-3449
- Luo, R., Jia, F., Yue, A., Zhang, L., Lyu, Q., Shi, Y., . . & Rozelle, S. (2019). Passive parenting and its association with early child development. *Early Child Development and Care*, *189*(10), 1709-1723. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2017.1407318</u>
- Luo, Y., Hétu, S., Lohrenz, T., Hula, A., Dayan, P., Sharon, L. R., Sonnier-Netto, L., Lisinski, J., LaConte, S., Nolte, T., Fonagy, P., Rahmani, E., P, R. M., & Ramey, C. (2018). Early childhood investment impacts social decision-making four decades later. *Nature Communications*, 9, 1-10. <u>http://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-07138-5</u>

- Main, K. (2018). Walking the talk: Enhancing future teachers' capacity to embed socialemotional learning in middle years classrooms. *Education Sciences*, 8(3), 143. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2227-7102/8/3/143</u>
- Margolis, H., & McCabe, P. P. (2006). Improving self-efficacy and motivation. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, *41*(4), 218-227. https://doi.org/10.1177/10534512060410040401

Marshall, T. (2019). The concept of reflection: a systematic review and thematic synthesis across professional contexts. *Reflective Practice*, 20(3), 396-415. https://doi.org/10.1080/14623943.2019.1622520

- Masuda, R., Lanier, P., Peisner-Feinberg, E., & Hashimoto, H. (2021). A Quasi-Experimental Study of the Effects of Pre-Kindergarten Education on Pediatric Asthma. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(19), 10461.
   https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph181910461
- McCarey, M., Barr, T., & Rattray, J. (2007). Predictors of academic performance in a cohort of pre-registration nursing students. *Nurse Education Today*, 27(4), 357-364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2006.05.017

McClelland, M. M., & Cameron, C. E. (2012). Self-regulation in early childhood: Improving conceptual clarity and developing ecologically valid measures. *Child Development Perspectives*, 6(2), 136-142. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Megan-Mcclelland/publication/229956809\_Self-Regulation\_Early\_Childhood\_Improving\_Conceptual\_Clarity\_and\_Developing\_Ecologic ally\_Valid\_Measures/links/59dd39ee0f7e9b53c1970f8c/Self-Regulation-Early\_Childhood\_Improving\_Conceptual\_Developing\_Ecologically-Valid\_Measures.pdf
</u>

McDonald, N., Schoenebeck, S., & Forte, A. (2019). Reliability and inter-rater reliability in qualitative research: Norms and guidelines for CSCW and HCI practice. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, *3*(CSCW), 1-23.

https://doi.org/10.1145/3359174

- Miranda, P. B., Mello, R. F., & Nascimento, A. C. (2020). A multi-objective optimization approach for the group formation problem. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 162, 113828. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2020.113828</u>
- Morrissey, T. W., Hutchison, L., & Winsler, A. (2014). Family income, school attendance, and academic achievement in elementary school. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(3), 741-753. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033848</u>
- Morsy, L., & Rothstein, R. (2019). Toxic Stress and Children's Outcomes: African American Children Growing up Poor Are at Greater Risk of Disrupted Physiological Functioning and Depressed Academic Achievement. *Economic Policy Institute*.
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3:
  Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Motroy, J. J., Bowles, R. P., Skibbe, L. E., McClelland, M. M., & Morrison, F. J. (2016). The development of self-regulation across early childhood. *Developmental psychology*, 52(11), 1744. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5123795/</u>
- Nassaji, H. (2020). Good qualitative research. *Language Teaching Research*, 24(4), 427-431. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362168820941288
- Newman, P. A., Guta, A., & Black, T. (2021). Ethical considerations for qualitative research methods during the COVID-19 pandemic and other emergency situations: navigating the

virtual field. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 20, 16094069211047823. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F16094069211047823

- Nielsen, N. (2020). Building educational equity indicator systems: A guidebook for states and school districts. National Academies Press.
- Odinokaya, M., Krepkaia, T., Karpovich, I., & Ivanova, T. (2019). Self-regulation as a basic element of the professional culture of engineers. *Education Sciences*, *9*(3), 200. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci9030200
- Odom, S. L. (2016). The role of theory in early childhood special education and early intervention. *Handbook of Early Childhood Special Education*, 21-

36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28492-7\_2</u>

Olivier, E., Archambault, I., De Clercq, M., & Galand, B. (2018). Student self-efficacy, classroom engagement, and academic achievement: Comparing three theoretical frameworks. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, *48*(2), 326-

340. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-018-0952-0</u>

Oppong, E., Shore, B. M., & Muis, K. R. (2019). Clarifying the connections among giftedness, metacognition, self-regulation, and self-regulated learning: Implications for theory and practice. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, *63*(2), 102-119.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/329937717

Ouherrou, N., Elhammoumi, O., Benmarrakchi, F., & El Kafi, J. (2019). Comparative study on emotions analysis from facial expressions in children with and without learning disabilities in virtual learning environment. *Education and Information Technologies*, 24(2), 1777-1792. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-018-09852-5

- Papanastasiou, G., Drigas, A., Skianis, C., Lytras, M., & Papanastasiou, E. (2018). Virtual and augmented reality effects on K-12, higher and tertiary education students' twenty-first century skills. *Virtual Reality*, 23(4), 425-436. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10055-018-0363-2
- Paradis, E., O'Brien, B., Nimmon, L., Bandiera, G., & Martimianakis, M. A. (2019). Design:
  Selection of data collection methods. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 8(2), 263–264. <u>https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-16-00098.1</u>
- Pauker, S., Perlman, M., Prime, H., & Jenkins, J. (2018). Caregiver cognitive sensitivity:
  Measure development and validation in Early Childhood Education and Care (ECEC)
  settings. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 45, 45-57.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2018.05.001
- Paulus, F. W., Backes, A., Sander, C. S., Weber, M., & von Gontard, A. (2015). Anxiety disorders and behavioral inhibition in preschool children: A population-based study. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, 46(1), 150-157.
- Pedersen, M. S., Landheim, A., Møller, M., & Lien, L. (2018). Acting on audit & feedback: a qualitative instrumental case study in mental health services in Norway. *BMC Health Services Research*, 18(1), 1-11. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1186/s12913-018-2862-y
- Penuel, W. R., Riedy, R., Barber, M. S., Peurach, D. J., LeBouef, W. A., & Clark, T. (2020).
  Principles of collaborative education research with stakeholders: Toward requirements for a new research and development infrastructure. *Review of Educational Research*, 90(5), 627-674. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654320938126

- Piaget, J. (1971). The theory of stages in cognitive development. In D. R. Green, M. P. Ford, &G. B. Flamer, *Measurement and Piaget*. McGraw-Hill.
- Piccioli, M. (2019). Educational research and mixed methods. Research designs, application perspectives, and food for thought. *Studi Sulla Formazione/Open Journal of Education*, 22(2), 439-450.

https://oajournals.fupress.net/index.php/sf/article/download/10815/10797

- Pritchard, A., & Woollard, J. (2013). *Psychology for the classroom: Constructivism and social learning*. Routledge.
- Qiong, O. U. (2017). *A brief introduction to perception*. Studies in literature and language, 15(4), 18-28.
- Ramey, C. T., & Ramey, S. L. (2004). Early learning and school readiness: Can early intervention make a difference? *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 50(4), 471–491. https://doi.org/10.1353/mpq.2004.0034
- Reyhing, Y., & Perren, S. (2021). Self-efficacy in early childhood education and care: What predicts patterns of stability and change in educator self-efficacy? *Frontiers in Education*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2021.634275
- Rhew, E., Piro, J. S., Goolkasian, P., & Cosentino, P. (2018). The effects of a growth mindset on self-efficacy and motivation. *Cogent Education*, 5(1), 1492337.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2018.1492337
- Robson, D. A., Allen, M. S., & Howard, S. J. (2020). Self-regulation in childhood as a predictor of future outcomes: A meta-analytic review. *Psychological bulletin*, 146(4), 324. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31904248/</u>

Rose, J., & Johnson, C. W. (2020). Contextualizing reliability and validity in qualitative research: toward more rigorous and trustworthy qualitative social science in leisure research. *Journal of Leisure Research*, *51*(4), 432-451. https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2020.1722042

Sadeh, A., De Marcas, G., Guri, Y., Berger, A., Tikotzky, L., & Bar-Haim, Y. (2015). Infant sleep predicts attention regulation and behavior problems at 3–4 years of age. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 403(1), 122–137. https://doi.org/10.1080/8765641.2014.973498

Sammons, P., Elliot, K., Sylva, K., Melhuish, E., Siraj-Blatchford, I., & Taggart, B. (2004). The impact of pre-school on young children's cognitive attainments at entry to reception. *British Educational Research Journal*, 30(5), 691-712.

https://doi.org/10.1080/0141192042000234656

- Sanfilippo, J., Ness, M., Petscher, Y., Rappaport, L., Zuckerman, B., & Gaab, N. (2020). Reintroducing dyslexia: Early identification and implications for pediatric practice. *Pediatrics*, *146*(1). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-3046
- Savina, E. (2021). Self-regulation in preschool and early elementary classrooms: Why it is important and how to promote it. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 49(3), 493-501.
  <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0883035522001343?dgcid=rss\_sd\_all</u>
- Schoch, K. (2020). Case study research. *Research design and methods: An applied guide for the scholar-practitioner*, 245-58.

- Schochet, O. N., Johnson, A. D., & Phillips, D. A. (2016). The effects of early care and education settings on the kindergarten outcomes of doubly vulnerable children.
   *Exceptional Children*, 87(1), 27-53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0014402920926461</u>
- Schunky, H. D., & Greene, A. J. (2018). *Handbook of self-regulation of learning and performance*. Routledge.
- Sediqzadah, S., Portnoy, A., Kim, J. J., Keshavan, M., & Pandya, A. (2022). Cost-effectiveness of early intervention in psychosis: A modeling study. *Psychiatric Services*, 73(9), 970-977. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.202100161
- Sekiwu, D., Ssempala, F., & Frances, N. (2020). Investigating the Relationship between School Attendance and Academic Performance in Universal Primary Education: The Case of Uganda. *African Educational Research Journal*, 8(2), 152-160.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1252243.pdf

Shonkoff, J. P., Garner, A. S., Siegel, B. S., Dobbins, M. I., Earls, M. F., Garner, A. S., McGuinn, L., Pascoe, J., & Wood, D. L. (2012). The lifelong effects of early childhood adversity and toxic stress. *Pediatrics*, 129(1), e232-

e246. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-2663

- Shonkoff, J. P., Slopen, N., & Williams, D. R. (2021). Early childhood adversity, toxic stress, and the impacts of racism on the foundations of health. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 42(1), 115-134. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-090419-101940</u>
- Shotter, J. (2019). Social accountability and the social construction of 'You'. Thirty Years On. Murmurations: *Journal of Transformative Systemic Practice*, 2(1), 67-96. <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/65b1/a746472ab8f8edbbd40394a5e271f31696a4.pdf</u>

Sidik, F. (2020). Actualizing Jean Piaget's theory of cognitive development in learning. *Jurnal PAJAR (Pendidikan dan Pengajaran), 4*(6), 1106-1111.

https://www.academia.edu/download/64554248/Kazi%20&%20Galanaki%20(2020).pdf

- Silver, R. B., Newland, R. P., Hartz, K., Jandasek, B., Godoy, L., Lingras, K. A., . . & Seifer, R. (2018). Integrating early childhood screening in pediatrics: A longitudinal qualitative study of barriers and facilitators. *Clinical Practice in Pediatric Psychology*, *5*(4), 426. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/cpp0000214">https://doi.org/10.1037/cpp0000214</a>
- Singer, B. D., & Bashir, A. S. (1999). What are executive functions and self-regulation and what do they have to do with language-learning disorders? *Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools*, 30(3), 265-273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/0161-1461.3003.265</u>
- Slade, S., & Sergent, S.R. (2021). Interview techniques. *Stat Pearls Publishing*. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK526083/</u>
- Sokol, R., Austin, A., Chandler, C., Byrum, E., Bousquette, J., Lancaster, C., ... & Shanahan, M. (2019). Screening children for social determinants of health: A systematic review.
   *Pediatrics*, 144(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-1622</u>
- Souza, A. G. G. D., Benetti, B., Ferreira, C. I. B., Fix, D., Oliveira, R. S. C., & Purim, K. S. M. (2019). Evaluation and screening of visual acuity in early childhood school children. *Revista Brasileira de Oftalmologia*, 78, 112-116.
- Sulistyaningtyas, R. E., & Fauziah, P. Y. (2019, June). The implementation of traditional games for early childhood education. In 3<sup>rd</sup> International Conference on Current Issues in Education (ICCIE 2018). Atlantis Press.

- Taber, K. S. (2020). Mediated learning leading development the social development theory of Lev Vygotsky. In *Science education in theory and practice* (pp. 277-291). Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-43620-9\_19</u>
- Temple, J. A., & Reynolds, A. J. (1999). School mobility and achievement. *Journal of School Psychology*, *37*(4), 355-377. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-4405(99)00026-6</u>
- Ten Braak, D., Størksen, I., Idsoe, T., & McClelland, M. (2019). Bidirectionality in self-regulation and academic skills in play-based early childhood education. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 65, 101064.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/344425602\_Children%27s

- Trent, S. C., Artiles, A. J., & Englert, C. S. (1998). Chapter 8: From deficit thinking to social constructivism: A review of theory, research, and practice in special education. *Review of Research in Education*, 23(1), 277-307. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732x023001277</u>
- Turan, Z., & Nagihan, B. A. Ş. (2019). Evaluation of the effectiveness of newborn hearing screening program: A center in Turkey. *International Journal of Early Childhood Special Education*, 11(2), 141-153.
- Twum-Antwi, A., Jefferies, P., & Ungar, M. (2019). Promoting child and youth resilience by strengthening home and school environments: A literature review. *International Journal* of School & Educational Psychology, 8(2), 78-89.

https://doi.org/10.1080/21683603.2019.1660284

Ulferts, H., Wolf, K. M., & Anders, Y. (2019). Impact of process quality in early childhood education and care on academic outcomes: Longitudinal meta-analysis. *Child Development*, 90(5), 1474-1489. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13296</u>

- Vaismoradi, M., & Snelgrove, S. (2019). Theme in qualitative content analysis and thematic analysis. In *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research, Vol.* 20, No. 3. DEU. <u>https://doi.org/10.17169/fqs-20.3.3376</u>
- Vikram, K., &Chindarkar, N. (2020). Bridging the gaps in cognitive achievement in India: The crucial role of the integrated child development services in early childhood. World Development, 127, 1-15. <u>https://doi-</u>

org.ezproxy.liberty.edu/10.1016/j.worlddev.2019.104697

- Vill, K., Kölbel, H., Schwartz, O., Blaschek, A., Olgemöller, B., Harms, E., ... & Müller-Felber, W. (2019). One year of newborn screening for SMA – Results of a German pilot project. *Journal of Neuromuscular Diseases*, 6(4), 503-515. https://doi.org/10.3233/jnd-190428
- Vivanti, G., & Stahmer, A. (2018). Early intervention for autism: Are we prioritizing feasibility at the expenses of effectiveness? A cautionary note. *Autism*, 22(7), 770-773.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes Cambridge, Mass. Harvard University Press
- Walker, S., & Graham, L. (2021). At-risk students and teacher-student relationships: Student characteristics, attitudes to school and classroom climate. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 25(8), 896-913. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2019.1588925
- Watts, T. W., Gandhi, J., Ibrahim, D. A., Masucci, M. D., & Raver, C. C. (2018). The Chicago School Readiness Project: Examining the long-term impacts of an early childhood intervention. *Plos One*, *13*(7), e0200144. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0200144
- Wesarg, C., Van Den Akker, A. L., Oei, N. Y., Hoeve, M., & Wiers, R. W. (2020). Identifying pathways from early adversity to psychopathology: A review on dysregulated HPA axis

functioning and impaired self-regulation in early childhood. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 17(6), 808-827.

https://pure.uva.nl/ws/files/52699879/

- Williams, M., & Moser, T. (2019). The art of coding and thematic exploration in qualitative research. *International Management Review*, 15(1), 45-55. <a href="http://www.imrjournal.org/uploads/1/4/2/8/14286482/imr-v15n1art4.pdf">http://www.imrjournal.org/uploads/1/4/2/8/14286482/imr-v15n1art4.pdf</a>
- Williams, K. E., Nicholson, J. M., Walker, S., & Berthelsen, D. (2016). Early childhood profiles of sleep problems and self-regulation predict later school adjustment. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 86(2), 331-350. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12109</u>
- Wolff, L. A., Skarstein, T. H., & Skarstein, F. (2020). The Mission of early childhood education in the Anthropocene. *Education Sciences*, *10*(2), 27.

Zimmerman, B. (2011). Handbook of self-regulation of learning and performance. Routledge.

#### Appendix A

# LIBERTY UNIVERSITY. INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

March 17, 2023

Jennifer Youssif Ellen Ziegler

Re: IRB Exemption - IRB-FY22-23-997 Teachers' Perceptions on the Influence of Early Childhood Screenings

Dear Jennifer Youssif, Ellen Ziegler,

The Liberty University Institutional Review Board (IRB) has reviewed your application in accordance with the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) and Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations and finds your study to be exempt from further IRB review. This means you may begin your research with the data safeguarding methods mentioned in your approved application, and no further IRB oversight is required.

Your study falls under the following exemption category, which identifies specific situations in which human participants research is exempt from the policy set forth in 45 CFR 46:104(d):

Category 2.(ii). Research that only includes interactions involving educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey procedures, interview procedures, or observation of public behavior (including visual or auditory recording).

Any disclosure of the human subjects' responses outside the research would not reasonably place the subjects at risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to the subjects' financial standing, employability, educational advancement, or reputation.

Your stamped consent form(s) and final versions of your study documents can be found under the Attachments tab within the Submission Details section of your study on Cayuse IRB. Your stamped consent form(s) should be copied and used to gain the consent of your research participants. If you plan to provide your consent information electronically, the contents of the attached consent document(s) should be made available without alteration.

Please note that this exemption only applies to your current research application, and any modifications to your protocol must be reported to the Liberty University IRB for verification of continued exemption status. You may report these changes by completing a modification submission through your Cayuse IRB account.

If you have any questions about this exemption or need assistance in determining whether possible modifications to your protocol would change your exemption status, please email us at <u>irb@liberty.edu</u>.

Sincerely, G. Michele Baker, MA, CIP Administrative Chair of Institutional Research Research Ethics Office

#### **Appendix B**

Letter

January 29, 2023

Mr. Smith Superintendent SAES Central Office, Dhahran

Dear Mr. Smith,

As a graduate student in the School of Education at Liberty University, I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a doctoral degree. The title of my research project is Teachers' Perceptions on the Influence of Early Childhood Screenings and the purpose of this qualitative case study is to discover the effects of ECS on provided services for the early childhood students attending XYZ School in Eastern Saudi Arabia.

I am writing to request your permission to conduct my research in the SAES school district.

Participants will be asked to contact me to schedule an interview, observations, and share FastBridge screening results. The FastBridge data will be used to gain information on how teachers use data to teach each student in their class. Participants will be presented with informed consent information prior to participating. Taking part in this study is completely voluntary, and participants are welcome to discontinue participation at any time.

Thank you for considering my request. If you choose to grant permission, please provide a signed statement on official letterhead indicating your approval. A permission letter document is attached for your convenience.

Sincerely,

Jennifer Youssif UDH Student Support Teacher January 29, 2023

Jennifer Youssif Student Support Teacher SAES Udhailiyah School

Dear Jennifer Youssif:

After careful review of your research proposal entitled Teachers' Perceptions on the Influence of Early Childhood Screenings, I have decided to grant you permission to contact our faculty/staff and invite them to participate in your study and utilize FastBridge data for your research study.

Check the following boxes, as applicable:

 $\square$  I grant permission for Jennifer Youssif to contact K3/K4 (preschool) and Kindergarten teachers to invite them to participate in her research study.

The requested data WILL NOT BE STRIPPED of identifying information before it is provided to the researcher.

 $\boxtimes$  I am requesting a copy of the results upon study completion and/or publication.

Sincerely,

Mike Smith SAES Superintendent Saudi Aramco Expatriate Schools

# Appendix C

# **Recruitment Letter**

Dear [Recipient],

As a graduate student in the School of Education at Liberty University, I am conducting research as part of the requirements for a doctoral degree. The title of my research project is Teachers' Perceptions on the Influence of Early Childhood Screenings and the purpose of this qualitative case study is to discover the effects of ECS on provided services for the early childhood students attending XYZ School in Eastern Saudi Arabia. I am writing to invite eligible participants to join my study.

Participants must be an educator with a North American teaching license and a minimum of five years of teaching experience. Participants, if willing, will be asked to participate in a computer based audio-recorded interview, two classroom observations, and share FastBridge screening results.

- Individual Interviews: To understand what the teachers' and administration's thoughts and feelings towards early childhood screening are.
- FastBridge Document Analysis: To see what information the screeners offer the teachers and school.
- Observations: To see how the teachers use the data that has been collected. Lastly, transcripts of the participants' interviews will be given to them to make sure all participants are comfortable with the results before submission.

It should take approximately 1.5 hours to complete the procedures listed. Names and other identifying information will be requested as part of this study, but the information will remain confidential.

To participate, please click here.

A consent document is attached to this email. The consent document contains additional information about my research. If you choose to participate, you will need to sign the consent document and return it to me through inter-office mail.

Sincerely,

Jennifer Youssif UDH Student Support Teacher

# Appendix D Consent

**Title of the Project:** TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS ON THE INFLUENCE OF EARLY CHILDHOOD SCREENINGS: A QUALITATIVE CASE STUDY

**Principal Investigator:** Jennifer Youssif, Doctoral Candidate. School of Education, Liberty University

#### Invitation to be Part of a Research Study

You are invited to participate in a research study. To participate you must be an educator with a minimum of five years teaching experience. Taking part in this research project is voluntary.

Please take time to read this entire form and ask questions before deciding whether to take part in this research project.

#### What is the study about and why is it being done?

The purpose of this qualitative case study is to discover the effects of ECS on provided services for the early childhood students attending XYZ School in Eastern Saudi Arabia.

#### What will happen if you take part in this study?

If you agree to be in this study, I will ask you to do the following:

- 1. Participate in an in-person interview that will be audio-recorded and take no more than 1 hour.
- 2. Allow me access to FastBridge Screening results for students in your current class.
- 3. Allow me to observe you in your classroom multiple times for less than 30 minutes each visit.

#### How could you or others benefit from this study?

The direct benefits participants should expect to receive from taking part in this study are screening results in the areas of reading and math that may determine if your students would benefit from early intervention services.

Benefits to society include the ability to determine which students need early intervention services.

#### What risks might you experience from being in this study?

The risks involved in this study are minimal, which means they are equal to the risks you would encounter in everyday life.

#### How will personal information be protected?

The records of this study will be kept private. Research records will be stored securely, and only the researcher will have access to the records.

- Participant responses will be anonymous and responses will be kept confidential through the use of pseudonyms. Interviews will be conducted in a location where others will not easily overhear the conversation.
- Data will be stored on a password-locked computer and may be used in future presentations. After three years, all electronic records will be deleted.
- Interviews will be recorded and transcribed. Recordings will be stored on a passwordlocked computer for three years and then erased. Only the researcher will have access to these recordings.

#### Is study participation voluntary?

Participation in this study is voluntary. Your decision whether to participate will not affect your or his or her current or future relations with Liberty University or SAES. If you decide to participate, you are free to not answer any question or withdraw at any time without affecting those relationships.

#### What should you do if you decide to withdraw from the study?

If you choose to withdraw from the study, please contact the researcher at the email address included in the next paragraph. Should you choose to withdraw, data collected from you will be destroyed immediately and will not be included in this study.

#### Whom do you contact if you have questions or concerns about the study?

The researcher conducting this study is Jennifer Youssif. You may ask any questions you have now. If you have questions later, **you are encouraged** to contact her at jyoussif@saeslearning.com. You may also contact the researcher's faculty sponsor, Ellen Ziegler, at eziegler@liberty.edu.

#### Whom do you contact if you have questions about rights as a research participant?

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study and would like to talk to someone other than the researcher, **you are encouraged** to contact the Institutional Review Board, 1971 University Blvd., Green Hall Ste. 2845, Lynchburg, VA 24515 or email at <u>irb@liberty.edu</u>.

Disclaimer: The Institutional Review Board (IRB) is tasked with ensuring that human subjects research will be conducted in an ethical manner as defined and required by federal regulations. The topics covered and viewpoints expressed or alluded to by student and faculty researchers are those of the researchers and do not necessarily reflect the official policies or positions of Liberty University

### **Your Consent**

By signing this document, you are agreeing to be in this study. Make sure you understand what the study is about before you sign. You will be given a copy of this document for your records. The researcher will keep a copy with the study records. If you have any questions about the study after you sign this document, you can contact the study team using the information provided above.

I have read and understood the above information. I have asked questions and have received answers. I consent to allow my child to participate in the study.

The researcher has my permission to audio-record me as part of my participation in this study.

Printed Subject Name

Signature & Date

# Appendix E

# Observations

Date:	Time:
Place:	Teacher:
Descriptive Notes:	<b>Reflective Notes:</b>

# Appendix F Data Analysis Checklist

#### **Sub-Question One**

How do the Pre-K and Kindergarten teachers utilize the screening data to inform instruction?

- 1. The teacher differentiates in reading
- 2. The teacher differentiates in math
- 3. The teacher differentiates in social emotional

Comments:

#### **Sub-Question Two**

How do Pre-K and Kindergarten teachers utilize screening data to build meaningful relationships that benefit the students?

- 1. The teacher speaks to the student by name
- 2. The teacher knows and uses student interests
- 3. The teacher knows the temperament of each student
- 4. The teacher gives meaningful feedback to the student

#### Comments:

# **Sub-Question Three**

How do Pre-K and Kindergarten teachers utilize screening data to improve the learning

outcomes of their students by using social interactions?

- 1. The teacher makes learning fun
- 2. The teacher engages students
- 3. The teacher allows choice
- 4. The teacher utilizes peer partnerships

Comments:

# Appendix G Differentiation Checklist

#### **Differentiation by Resource:**

- 1. Variety of activities in the classroom
- 2. Use of technology
- 3. Organizational tools provided to store toys

Comments:

#### **Differentiation by Task:**

- 1. Variety of tasks is provided
- 2. Tasks relate to student abilities and interests
- 3. Choice in tasks is provided
- 4. Learning routines are being established

Comments:

#### **Differentiation by Support:**

- 1. Individual support is offered by the teacher
- 2. Support is offered by the teaching assistant
- 3. Group support is offered
- 4. Individual learning goals are provided for each student
- 5. Successes are celebrated

Comments: